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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of GLORY
MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED (the “Company”
together with its subsidiaries the “Group”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

To Our Shareholders,

I would like to present to the shareholders the annual report
of GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2019.

In 2019, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$348.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately
10.5% as compared with 2018. This year, the Group recorded
a profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$12.3 million (2018: HK$24.5 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 49.8% as compared with last year.

The Group has been suffering from the Sino-US trade war.
In addition to the decrease in revenue, the Group was also
to share the increased US tariff. Both of revenue and profit
of electronics business has decreased in the year ended 31
December 2019.

The master-planning and architectural design business was
growing satisfactorily since the introduction of this business. In
2019, revenue and profit increased to approximately HK$67.1
million and approximately HK$16.6 million respectively in
2019 (2018: approximately HK$44.8 million and approximately
HK$13.5 million respectively), representing an increment of
approximately 49.8% in revenue as a result of around 20 new
design contracts in various provinces in the People's Republic
of China (the “PRC”).

The financial position of the Group remains strong. As at 31
December 2019, the Group had cash on hand of approximately
HK$79.9 million without any outstanding bank borrowing.

Despite the master-planning and architectural design business
may not be directly affected by the Sino-US trade war, it is
uncertain as to whether the Sino-US trade war would produce
a chain reaction in the macroeconomies. On the other hand,
the electronic business is suffering from the uncertainties on
the Sino-US trade war and the adverse impact of the outbreak
of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic. However,
the Directors continue to observe opportunities in the industry,
such as the increase in demand in electronic products arising
from the gaining popularity of remote working with the outbreak
of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic. Notwithstanding the
impact on the global supply chain from COVID-19, the Directors
remain cautiously optimistic to the results of the Group in the
coming year.
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The Group will continue to develop the master-planning and
architectural design business in 2020 and believes that this
business segment would continue to improve and make
contribution to the Group’s revenue in 2020. However, the
Directors remain cautious on the adverse impact of COVID-19
on the Group’s business operations and will take appropriate
measures as and when necessary to minimize the impact.

Taking this opportunity, | should like to express my sincere
gratitude to all our customers, suppliers, business partners,
employees and shareholders for their continuous and valuable
supports to the Group. | shall lead my team to persist with the
best endeavours in striving for optimal development for the
Group and returns for our shareholders in the times to come.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HKO0.3
cents per ordinary share) as the Board is expecting an unstable
external business environment in 2020.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER FOR AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 24 June 2020 to Tuesday, 30 June 2020 (both days
inclusive), for the purposes of determining the entitlements of
the shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM to be held on
Tuesday, 30 June 2020. No transfer of Shares will be registered
during the period. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the
AGM, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited,
at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopwell Centre, 183 Queen's
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, by no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 23 June 2020.

Wang Li Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 May 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWMN D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged in the design, manufacture and sale
of connectivity products mainly for computers, computer
peripheral products, multi-media consumable electronic
products, communication products, automobile electronics
accessories, wire harness and medical equipment (the
“Electronics Business”). The Group is one of the leading VGA
cables manufacturers in the World.

In the third quarter of 2017, in order to diversify its business
and enhance its returns to the shareholders, the Group
entered into the business of provision of master-planning and
architectural design business in the PRC (the “Architectural
Design Business”) and the Group has been developing this
business since then.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and gross profit
The Electronics Business

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (“Year 2019”), as
a result of the Sino-US trade war, revenue of this business
segment decreased by approximately 18.3% as compared
with the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 (“Year
2018"). In Year 2019, the Electronics Business contributed
revenue and gross profit in the amounts of approximately
HK$280.9 million (2018: HK$344.0 million) and approximately
HK$42.9 million (2018: HK$53.0 million) to the Group,
respectively.

Despite the signing of the long-awaited Sino-US trade deal
for tariff drop, the Directors anticipated that the upcoming
developments of the Sino-US trade war remain highly uncertain.
In addition, the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic globally
has imposed further adverse impact on the consumer demand
for electronic products globally and the Group’s production
capacity and efficiencies in China. The Directors believe
that these are the main factors that will affect the Electronics
Business of the Group in the future. The Group has used its
best endeavours to fulfill its committed sales orders, remain
in close contacts with its customers to closely follow up the
delivery schedules and upcoming sales orders. The Group had
also launched some higher value-added products and actively
discussing the sales of such product at a mutually beneficial
price and sales volume in order to minimize any possible
negative impact on its business. The Group will continue
to assess the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s business
operations and will take appropriate measures as and when
necessary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Architectural Design Business

In the third quarter of 2017, the Group entered into the
business of provision of comprehensive architectural
services, to developers in the PRC. The revenue generated
from this business segment was growing satisfactorily since
the introduction of this business. This business segment
contributed revenue in the amount of approximately HK$67.1
million to the Group in Year 2019 (2018: HK$44.8 million),
representing an increment of approximately 49.8% as a result
of around 20 new design contracts in various provinces in
the PRC. The business segment contributed gross profit of
approximately HK$16.6 million in Year 2019, compared to
approximately HK$13.5 million in Year 2018. The drop in
gross profit margin from approximately 30.1% in Year 2018
to approximately 24.7% in Year 2019 was mainly due to the
increase in headcount in preparation for future incoming design
projects.

Despite the Architectural Design Business may not be directly
affected by the Sino-US trade war, it is uncertain as to whether
the Sino-US trade war would produce a chain reaction in the
macroeconomies. Together with the global macroeconomic
downtrend as caused by COVID-19, the Directors maintain
a very conservative view as to the results of the Group in the
future.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The selling and distribution expenses were approximately
HK$8.9 million in Year 2019, compared to approximately
HK$12.0 million in Year 2018, which was mainly due to
management focus on cost controls on top of the natural
decrease in line with revenue decrease in the Electronic
Business.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses were approximately HK$37.9
million in Year 2019, compared to approximately HK$32.5
million in Year 2018 which was mainly due to the expansion
of the Architectural Design Business in support of its revenue
growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWMN D

Net Profit

The Group reported a net profit attributable to owners of the
Company for Year 2019 of approximately HK$12.3 million (2018:
HK$24.5 million), representing a decrease of approximately
49.8%, mainly due to the decrease in revenue in the Electronic
Business as a result of the Sino-US trade war and the decrease
in margin in the Architectural Design Business as the business
expands.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s net current assets, cash
and bank balances and equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$54.9 million, HK$79.9
million and HK$129.6 million (2018: HK$41.0 million, HK$65.1
million and HK$120.0 million), respectively. The current ratio,
expressed as current assets over current liabilities, was
maintained at the level of approximately 1.43 (2018: 1.27). The
Group had no interest-bearing debt as at 31 December 2019
(2018: nil)

OUTLOOK
The Architectural Design Business

The Group will continue to focus on developing the Architectural
Design Business in 2020 and believes that this new business
segment would continue to improve and contribute to the
Group’s revenue in 2020. However, the Directors remain
cautious on the adverse impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s
business operations and will take appropriate measures as and
when necessary to minimize the impact.

The Electronics Business

The Electronic Business is facing a challenging year ahead
given the uncertainties on the Sino-US trade war and the
adverse impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s business
operations. However, the Directors continue to observe
opportunities in the industry, such as the increase in demand
in electronic products arising from the gaining popularity of
remote working with the outbreak of COVID-19. Notwithstanding
the impact on the global supply chain from COVID-19, the
Directors remain cautiously optimistic to the results of the
Group in the coming year.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Li Feng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 56, is the chairman of the
Group. He obtained a master degree in architecture from Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology in November 1991. Mr. Wang
is also a director of PT Design, the controlling shareholder of
the Company. He worked as the chief representative for Peddle
Thorp Architects Melbourne Asia Shenzhen Office (JRAF 2544
EERAREERTBRAARIINEKE) from February 1998 to
January 2003. He was the Executive Director of Peddle Thorp
Consultants (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd (#8537 CFRINBR AT
from January 2003 until the present and has been the chairman
of PT Architecture Design (Shenzhen) Company Limited (14/E
BELGEYN AR AR ) from March 2009 until the present.

Mr. Yu Sanlong (“Mr. Yu”), aged 46, was appointed and has
been an executive Director of the Company since 5 December
2019. He is a member of the executive committee and also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company’s electronics
business.

Mr. Yu has over 23 years of experience in the electronics
industry. He has extensive experience in research and
development and manufacture of electronic products and
management of electronics companies in China, Hong Kong
and Singapore. Mr. Yu is a director and a co-founder of NIIP
Limited, which is a private company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability focusing on provision of services regarding
data encryption and password management to customers in
North America, in April 2014. Prior to co-founding NIIP Limited,
Mr. Yu worked in various multinational and listed companies,
such as International Business Machines Corporate (IBM) and
Tyco Electronics (currently known as TE Connectivity), where
he was mainly responsible for managing the research and
development and manufacture of various electronic products
for medical and automobile industries.

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in machinery and
equipment manufacturing engineering from Harbin Engineering
University, China in July 1997.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEASHE

Mr. Fan Xiaoling (“Mr. Fan”), aged 34, was appointed and has
been an executive Director of the Company since 5 December
2019. He is a member of the executive committee and also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company’s electronics
business.

Mr. Fan has over 12 years of experience in the electronics
industry. He has strong abilities of supply chain strategy,
sales and operation planning, demand planning, forecasting
development, quality management, logistics management
and project management. He has extensive and successful
experiences in North America, South East Asia, Finland,
Germany, Brazil, Mexico, and United Kingdom market. He
is the director of supply chain management of LTL Group,
LLC., where he is mainly responsible for the supply chain
management of semi-conductors and electronic products.

Mr. Fan obtained a Bachelor of Finance degree from East China
Jiaotong University, China in June 2008.

Ms. Lee Jui-lan (“Ms. Lee”), aged 58, was appointed and has
been an executive Director of the Company since 5 December
2019. She is a member of the executive committee and also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company’s electronics
busienss.

Ms. Lee has over 30 years of experience in the electronics
industry. She has extensive experience in software
development, marketing electronic products and management
of companies in Taiwan. She worked in Intertek Testing
Services Taiwan Ltd., which is principally engaged in testing,
inspecting and certifying electronic products, for more than
10 years with the last position of the general manager of the
electronic business unit principally responsible for the overall
management, which is a subsidiary of Intertek Group PLC, a
company listed in the London Stock Exchange.

Ms. Lee obtained a bachelor of Electronics Engineering degree
from National Taipei University of Technology, Taiwan in June
1984.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Chun (“Mr. Wong”), aged 61, was re-designated as
a non-executive Director of the Company since 5 December
2019. He is the deputy chairman of the Company and one of
the founders of the Company’s electronics business.

He had worked as a chief officer of China affairs for two
Hong Kong listed electronics companies, Tomei International
(Holdings) Limited and The Grande Holdings Limited. Mr. Wong
has over 30 years of experience in electronic and computer
peripherals sector. He is presently serving as the Executive
Committee Member and President of Mainland Hong Kong
Economy and Trade Committee of the Chinese Manufacturers
Association of Hong Kong, vice-chairman and the chairman of
China Sub-Committee of the Hong Kong Electronic Industries
Association, Life Honorary President of the Hong Kong Auto
Parts Industry Association, GD Qingyuan City Committee of
Chinese People Political Consultative Conference, Executive
Committee Member of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong
Community Organisations, Honorary Vice President of
Federation of Qing Yuan Association. Since 2007, he served
as Vice-Chairman of Dongguan City Association of Enterprises
with Foreign Investment for 6 years, Executive Vice-Chairman
of Dongguan City Tangxia Association of Enterprises with
Foreign Investment for 6 years. Since 2009, he served as
the member of the China Trade and Innovation & Technology
Advisory Committee of Hong Kong Trade Development Council
for 4 years. He has also awarded as Fellow by The Professional
Validation Council of Hong Kong Industries and Fellow Member
by Asian Knowledge Management Association respectively in
2006.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEASHE

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Hon. Lo Wai Kwok SBS, MH, JP (“Dr. Lo"), aged 67,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of the Nomination Committee and the Audit
Committee on 29 November 2016. Dr. Lo holds a doctorate
degree in engineering, master degrees in engineering and
business administration respectively and a bachelor degree
in engineering. He is a Chartered Engineer and Fellow of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. Dr. Lo was awarded with
the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong” and the “Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Selection” in 1992, the “Medal
of Honour” of the Hong Kong Government in July 2001, and
was appointed “Justice of the Peace” of the Hong Kong
Government in July 2004. Dr. Lo was awarded the Bronze
Bauhinia Star in July 2009 and the Silver Bauhinia Star in July
2015 by the Hong Kong Government respectively.

Dr. Lo is also an independent non-executive director of Ka Shui
International Holdings Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong
(Stock Code: 822). He is currently a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong, representing the Engineering Functional
Constituency. He has over 30 years of experience in the
electronic and power supply industry. He is an Adjunct
Professor of the City University of Hong Kong.
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Dr. Fong Chi Wai, Alex (“Dr. Fong”), aged 63, is currently a
director of HK Electric Investments Manager Limited and a
director of The Hongkong Electric Company, Limited. Dr. Fong
was the chief executive officer of Hong Kong General Chamber
of Commerce (the “Chamber”) from 2006 to 2011. Prior to
joining the Chamber, he served in the civil service for over
25 years, holding various senior positions in the Government
of Hong Kong. Dr. Fong has a long record of public service
providing both operational and policy-formulation expertise.
Dr. Fong has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of HK Electric Investments and HK Electric
Investments Limited, a company listed on the Exchange (stock
code: 2638), since December 2013 and an independent non-
executive director of TOM Group Limited, a company listed on
the Exchange (stock code: 2383). He was an independent non-
executive director of Power Assets Holdings Ltd., a company
listed on the Exchange (stock code: 6) and a substantial
holder of Share Stapled Units for the purpose of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), from December 2012 to January
2014,

Dr. Fong received a Bachelor of Social Science degree in
Business and Economics from the University of Hong Kong in
November 1978, a Master of Technology Management degree
in Global Logistics Management and a Master of Science
degree in Global Finance from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in April 2007 and May 2009
respectively, and a Doctor of Business Administration degree
from the City University of Hong Kong in October 2017.
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EENGREEASHE

Mr. Lu Yongchao (“Mr. Lu”), aged 39, was appointed and has
been an independent non-executive director of the Company
since 31 March 2019.

Mr. Lu obtained a diploma in Business Administration for Real
Estate Entrepreneurs in China at Sun Yat-sen University (/1
I ;K&) and a diploma in English at Guangdong University
of Foreign Studies (ERINEINE KE). Mr. Lu was a team
member of Ample Luck International Capital Group Limited
which is a fund management group. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in business development, market development,
media management, finance and Information Technology
industry and years of investment, financing and fund
management history. He has rich experience in the enterprise
strategic management, internet strategy, brand management,
investment and financing management.

Mr. Lu was the founder of Enjoymedia Holdings Company
Limited, which was listed on the Over The-Counter Bulletin
Board (OTCBB) in 2006 and was named as one of the hundred
most Chinese Concept corporation listed in the United States.
Prior to that Mr. Lu had been the chief executive of the online
websites YESITE and ITNOW, as well as the Whirlpool Kit
Department Head in China. Mr. Lu had assisted listing and
financing of different enterprises while working in an investment
company in China, and had served as a director of China
Mobile Digital Group, a company whose shares are listed on
the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. He had also served
as a director of a German outdoor brand VAUDE.

Mr. Lu is also a director of Eagle Pioneer Limited, Accurate
Trade International Limited, China Safety Holdings Limited,
Happy Way Technology Limited, Total Tycoon Limited and Great
Select Global Limited. Mr. Lu served as the chief executive
officer of Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
(“Cybernaut”) (formerly known as Sinoref Holdings Limited),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1020), from January 2015 to February
2017 and he has been an executive director of Cybernaut since
February 2017, and he is also an independent non-executive
director of Pa Shun International Holdings Limited, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 574) since September 2018.
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Dr.Yan Ka Shing (“Dr.Yan"), aged 34, was appointed and has
been an independent non-executive Director of the Company
since 5 December 2019. He is the chairman of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company,
and also a member of the nomination committee, the executive
committee and the strategy and development committee of the
Company.

Dr. Yan has more than 8 years of experience in the medical
industry and has been employed by the Hospital Authority
in Hong Kong (the “Hospital Authority”) since July 2011. He
completed his housemanship in the Hospital Authority from July
2011 to June 2012. He then became a registered doctor and
has served as a medical officer in various hospitals in Hong
Kong managed by the Hospital Authority since July 2012.

Dr. Yan obtained his Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of
Surgery (MBBS) degree from the University of Hong Kong
in November 2011, Membership of the Royal Colleges of
Physicians of the United Kingdom (MRCP (UK)), a postgraduate
medical diploma in the United Kingdom, in March 2016. He
was then admitted as a member of the Hong Kong College of
Physicians in January 2017. Dr. Yan obtained the Postgraduate
Diploma in Infectious Diseases from the University of Hong
Kong (PDipID (HK)) in October 2019. He has been a member
of the Hong Kong Medical Association since July 2011.

Dr. Yan is also currently an independent non-executive director,
the chairman of the nomination committee, a member of the
audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee
of Victory Securities (Holdings) Company Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8540).
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EENGREEASHE

Dr. Feng Seng (“Dr. Feng”), aged 31, was appointed and has
been an independent non-executive Director of the Company
since 3 March 2020. He is a member of the audit committee,
the remuneration committee, the nomination committee, the
executive committee and the strategy and development
committee of the Company.

Dr. Feng is an associate member of Association of
International Accountants, Senior International Finance
Manager, a registered PRC lawyer, a member of the Institute
of Public Accountants in Australia, an associate member of
the Association of International Accountants in the United
Kingdom, and holds a number of professional qualification
certificates, including Financial Risk and Regulation Certificate
and Certified Financial Planner. He was a partner of Da Hua
Certified Public Accountants in China. Currently, he is a
Business Director of AVIC Securities Co., Ltd. He is also a tutor
of post-graduate students in University of Chinese Academy of
Sciences, Tianjin University of Finance & Economics, Beihang
University, Jiangsu Normal University, Nanjing Audit University
and Capital University of Economics and Business. After
becoming a PRC sponsor representative in 2015, Dr. Feng has
led different companies through initial public offering, placing
of shares, management of corporate investment and financing,
listing on NEEQ, mergers and acquisitions, restructuring of
claims and debts, restructuring of state-owned enterprises, and
so on. Dr. Feng was honoured by the International Financial
Management Association (IFMA) as 2017 Top Ten Innovative
Figures in International Finance Managers (IFM) in China (2017
F B B %5 B AT B+ KAI%T A% ) and IFM Pioneers in the
40th anniversary of China’s Reform and Opening-up (Bl E
FIRA0JEIF IFMSEE A%)), in 2018.

Dr. Feng obtained a bachelor degree in management in July
2011 from Beijing Information Science & Technology University
where he specialised in management science, a master
degree in civil and commercial law in July 2014 and a doctoral
degree in economics and law in December 2014 from China
University of Political Science and Law, a master degree in
business administration in May 2015 from New York Institute
of Technology, a master degree in software engineering and
domain engineering in January 2016 from Beihang University, a
master degree in software engineering and domain engineering
in June 2016 from Tianjin University, a master degree in
software engineering and domain engineering in December
2016 from Huazhong University of Science and Technology,
and a doctoral degree in business administration in August
2018 from EuroPort Business School.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for Year 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the review of the business of the Group, please refer to the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
page 8 of this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

During the Year, the Group adopted the following policies to
improve the environmental quality:

° to design and produce connectivity products by taking
into account the possibility of dismantling and recovery
of the components and materials

° to use recycled papers as printing materials whenever
appropriate

o to reduce electricity consumption by switching off any
light and electrical appliances which are not in use

° to choose energy efficiency appliances (with energy
labels showing on prescribed products) with lowest
energy consumption

o to avoid, reduce or control environmental pollution
arising from the Group’s operations and to require
our contractors to adopt and implement similar
environmental measures

° to ensure good management practices by reviewing
them regularly and ensure that they are tuned to the
changing internal and external circumstances

° to comply with all applicable environmental legislation,
standards and regulations

Directors’ Report
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EEEWRE

The Group will put in place additional environmental policies as
and when appropriate or necessary to ensure that its business
operations are conducted in an environmentally responsible
manner.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The largest and the top five suppliers of the Group accounted
for about 7.7% and 25.0%, respectively, of the Group’s total
purchases for the Year.

The largest and the top five customers of the Group accounted
for about 24.3% and 61.5%, respectively, of the Group’s total
turnover for the Year.

At no time during the Year did a director, an associate
of a director, or a shareholder of the Company (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) have an interest in any of the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 53 of this report. The Directors
do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2019 as the Board is expecting an
unstable external business environment in 2020.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 160 of
the annual report.

FIXED ASSETS

The Group has incurred HK$3,980,000 capital expenditure
during the Year mainly due to the expansion of the Architectural
Design Business resulting in purchase of computer equipment
and the additions in fixture in one of our manufacturing factories
in Guangdong province.
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Details of these and other movements during the Year in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in notes
12 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

LIABILITIES

The Group had no interest-bearing debt as at 31 December
2019.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserve available for distribution to
shareholders as at 31 December 2019 amounted to HK$NIl.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Li Feng (Chairman)

Mr. Yu Sanlong (appointed on 5 December 2019)
Mr. Fan Xiaoling (appointed on 5 December 2019)
Ms. Lee Jui-lan (appointed on 5 December 2019)
Mr. He Yongyi (resigned on 5 December 2019)

Mr. Pang Kuo Shi (resigned on 5 December 2019)
Mr. Kong Lixing (resigned on 5 December 2019)
Mr. Zhao Guo Xing (resigned on 5 December 2019)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Wong Chun (Deputy Chairman)
(re-designated on 5 December 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lau Ho Kit, Ivan (resigned on 2 March 2020)

Dr. Hon. Lo Wai Kwok, SBS, MH, JP

Dr. Zhu Wenhui (resigned on 31 March 2019)

Dr. Fong Chi Wai, Alex (appointed on 10 January 2019)
Mr. Lu Yongchao (appointed on 31 March 2019)

Dr. Yan Ka Shing (appointed on 5 December 2019)

Dr. Feng Shen (appointed on 3 March 2020)

Directors’ Report
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple
of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation. And, according to the
Corporate Governance Code under Appendix 15 to the GEM
listing Rules (“CG Code”), every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with Article 84(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to
Article 83(2) shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to
retire by rotation.

To comply with the above, Mr. Wong Chun, Dr. Hon. Lo Wai
Kwok, SBS, MH, JP, Mr. Yu Sanlong, Mr. Fan Xiaoling, Ms. Lee
Jui-lan, Mr. Lu Yongchao, Dr. Yan Ka Shing, Dr. Feng Shen,
shall retire from office at the AGM. Dr. Hon. Lo Wai Kwok, SBS,
MH, JP will not offer himself for re-election at the AGM while all
other retiring Directors, being eligible, have offered themselves
for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company not
terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

RIBARRZ ARMAMRAIFES4(1) & - RERRBF
Ret- “‘%i%ﬂ’]f"z—ﬁﬂh/\%l% (3)
MWEE AISBIBETNIR =02 — AR AR
BER - RIZGEM L MR RIS+ AEEERT
ATEEERTA])  SUEFR(BRERERE
HReEF)RELE_FHESE R -

RIBEAARZ ARARIESA(2) ik - NEFSRE
FEBI) KREEZESFTNERA Emfﬁiﬁﬁ’ﬂ%ii
EREFAHE - HIEFHE

/A LREERE - mRAL EREEBL R
EHES  REBE - AFEL - T=8ELE %

Nk FIRBRL - BKBELE  BRBE
A MBHRBEERERBFEAREG LRE - EREHD
T HREFES  REHE - AFELEIERk
RBFARS ERSE  MEERNMAHEMERE
B0 EREE -

BEECRBEEH
BEZFNEERRBFAS LEEEINERR

ARRFTAARRRR —F AN AL & REE
OEERBEBRINOBER T FLARERRBEH)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short position of
the directors and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or its associate corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFQ")), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to the
required standards of dealings by directors of listed issuer
as referred to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of Chapter 5 of the GEM
Listing Rules and Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

Directors’ Report

EFEHE
EERRGRABRG ZRERAA

RZZFB-NAF+-A=1—0  BARAREES
KRB EH LR EI2GFEZE
FCMATECER - SiRIE GEM F AR IS5 55.46%
5.67IRFTIL EMBEITAESEITR S 2 BTIREL
B M EEIRDIE XV ERERET7 R E8D #B R TTRIA
NEI MR FER Z @A - BIRAARBMEL 2
BA - EERREZHEANAR B SERR AR
(EERESRBAEGDIZE XV ER) 2B in MAERE AR
DA 2R IRBINT ¢

ARBEREEOONB T ZEBER

Number of Percentage of
issued issued share
ordinary capital of
Name of director Capacity shares held the Company
e 8T AN TE BT
EEEB 14 ZEREAR BEZzEDLE
Mr. Wang (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 355,620,000 (L) 55.57%
F A (HEE1) R AR
Mr. Wong Beneficial owner 31,390,000 (L) 4.90%
Epirtas BE=BA
Note: Hiat -
(L) denotes long position (L) feir e
., The 355,620,000 shares are held by PT Design Group Holdings Limited 1. FhRAERBE R EHEBHR PT Design Group Holdings
(“PT Design”), which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wang. Limited ([PT Design ])#5%355,620,000%f% {5 °
Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors and R EXHEBREI RZT—NFT+_HA=1+—8 -

chief executive of the Company, nor their associates had any
interests or short positions in any shares or underlying shares
of the Company or any of its associated corporations at 31
December 2019.

BEARREERESATARBRBREZBEAR
R RS E AT AREOE B e (AT A £ SR R R i
B ERERIORE °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the persons or entities (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company) who have
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company which have been disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company, were as follows:

EFRRRRADFA RO RAEBERG 2 Es
R/EKRRE

RZZF-NAF+-A=1—0 REEFRPEK
{5155 XV &R 2 K37 BB Z R X B AR B BR A
RAEED MR P HRAREIRBEZALTHE
B(EFERARRAEIRTHRABRIN) - IHRARF
RIEFE S LB IRPIE3361KA TFE 2 BT
AR B RARR T 2 AR B MARRER B
BERRIARZALTHERB(EERARATE
TTERABRRINIAT :

Number of Percentage of
issued issued share
Ordinary capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
e 81T DTS BT
IR BB 14 ZRREE BAEZzEDLE
PT Design Beneficial Owner 355,620,000 (L) 55.57%
PT Design EnEEA
Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 74,403,000 11.63%
BERI L St A (F1E1) R AR S
Modern Wealth Assets Limited Beneficial owner
(Note 1) 74,403,000 11.63%
Modern Wealth Assets Limited EnEEA
(BaE1)
(L) denotes long position (L) Eire
1. Mr. Pang Guo-Shi is deemed to be interested in the 74,403,000 shares 1. ERELERBEARERBLEE2EBANAA
held by Modern Wealth Assets Limited, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Modern Wealth Assets Limited F#§745 #)74,403,0004%
Pang Kuo-Shi Bein B o
SHARE OPTIONS BRE

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. During the
Year, no share options were granted or exercised. As at 31
December 2019, no share options were outstanding.

AR RIRBBHERT B BN R A M S RAKMIEE28
FR - BEBREEROIITE R_FT—LF
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2019 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation on his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than the interests disclosed under the section headed
“Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares” above, no person in the register of
substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO was disclosed as having a notifiable
interest or short position in the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company or its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Directors’ Report

EFEHE
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FERR
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing Connected Transactions

On 4 July 2017, PT Design International Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the Business Cooperation Agreement (as amended and
supplemented by the supplemental business cooperation
agreement dated 28 August 2017) with, Australia PT Design
Consultants Limited (“PT Consultants”) and PT Building
Technology and Science Holding Limited (“PT Technology”) for
the solicitation of the Master planning and Architectural Design
Business from independent developers for a term of three
years from 15 July 2017 to 14 July 2020. PT Consultants was
an associate of Mr. Wang, an executive Director and chairman
of the Board. Under the Business Cooperation Agreement,
unless otherwise requested by the independent developer,
the Master planning and Architectural Design Business
will be first undertaken by the Group as general design
contractor. The Group will be responsible for master planning
and general design work while all architectural schematic
design work will be subcontracted to PT Consultants (or its
subsidiary or associate). In the event that the Master planning
and Architectural Design Business is to be undertaken by PT
Consultants or PT Technology as the general design contractor
at the request of the independent developer, unless otherwise
requested by the independent developer, all master planning
work shall be first subcontracted to the Group. For details of the
Business Cooperation Agreement, please refer to the circular
of the Company dated 6 February 2018. The Group entered
into three subcontracting agreements with PT Architectual
Design (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“PT Shenzhen”) (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of PT Consultants) in June, July and
December 2018 respectively in respect of subcontracting
architectural schematic design work from the Group to
PT Shenzhen (collectively the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”), which constitute continuing connected
transactions under the Business Cooperation Agreement. The
aggregate contract sum payable by the Group to PT Shenzhen
was RMB8,224,000 (approximately HK$9,329,000). In 2019, the
Group has paid PT Shenzhen for their support in architectural
schematic design work contemplated under the aforesaid
three subcontracting agreements in the aggregate amount of
RMB3,892,000 (approximately HK$4,415,000).

There was no subcontracting agreements entered into between
the Group and PT Consultants (or its subsidiary or associate)
for the year ended 31 December 2019. Set out below are
the annual caps (the “Annual Caps”) in respect of the
subcontracting arrangement under the Business Cooperation
Agreement:

BEEREXS
FERERS

R-Z—tFLAWB  ARFREEREENB AT
BHERBERERARERAN SAE R AE
RAR([HEBH ) MESRERMBIERAERA
A([HEBRR DAL ES A ERE(KRERA=F
—LEFNAZ T NBNHETEEB A FIHREER LM
7)) NIEBY FERAEARAR S NEERARE
B AT ttFLATREREE T _FTFLA
THRESM=F HEEARNTEERESS
EFEIREZHEA - RBEEBHAFRE - B
FEERTTENRIN  BEREI MEEREHAL
EAREERRG RAREAE - AEERKEE
IR NEGHABRE - MEEERAHRT

tE D B TR A (REMBRRIRBEA) - fiH
ARGt MEERGT R B BB ER - Al

RER A ERHRE AR AR AR - Ak
B FEERITENRIN 2 RERE TEERL
DETFAER - BEEKAEHRZFBRELREA
ARBEHAE-T—N\E-ANBZEK - NEE5
AEBMMBEREZRTCORIDER AR ([HEFR
) (HEZAZENB AR D BEERTHRL
ERAFFRIND N =_E—N\F A - tARt=
AR =o e ta (s FERERS ) - mit
BREBAERRBE TN ZHERER S - 245 E
FERIRERYI 2 & #HiEEE 5 AR EES,224,0007T (49
9,329,000/ 7T) - RZZE—N&F  AEBERIAER
JERE L =00 BiRRRETHRER A
RIEMTFAETAHIBEAREKS,892,0007T (%)
4,415,000 7T ) ©

BE-TNE+-AS+—AIL5E - ARER
e (RN B 2 A A ) R ATSLEA D
Bl - TXBIIESA FRRAT SRR F
ErR(EELR):
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Architectural Schematic Design Work

The architectural schematic design work to be subcontracted
by the Group to PT Consultants (or its subsidiary or associate),
in term of aggregate contract sum, shall not exceed HK$75.0
million, HK$75.0 million and HK$37.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2018, the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the six months ending 30 June 2020 respectively.

Master planning Work

The master-planning work to be subcontracted by PT
Consultants (or its subsidiary or associate) to the Group, in
term of aggregate contract sum, shall not exceed HK$25.0
million, HK$25.0 million and HK$12.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2018, the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the six months ending 30 June 2020 respectively.

The Annual Caps were approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting
held on 28 February 2018.

Confirmations from the independent non-executive
Directors and auditors of the Company

Pursuant to Rule 20.53 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Continuing Connected Transactions for the Year and confirmed
that these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of Group;

(i)

on normal commercial terms; and
(iii) in accordance with the Business Cooperation
Agreement on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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BE-_T\&+-A=t—HLFE #BEZT
—ﬂ¢+fﬂ_+ AIEFEUARBE-S_FF
NAZTHILEAEA  AEEHD B TREEN
(HEMBARIKBEA) ZRERFTRIEZE
K 48FE 5 RT3 58 1875,000,0007 7T + 75,000,000
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HERBTHE
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The auditors were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Board confirms that the auditors have issued their
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in
respect of the Continuing Connected Transactions disclosed
above by the Group in accordance with Rule 20.54 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of significant related
party transactions, which do not constitute connected
transactions, made during the Year is disclosed in note 32 to
the financial statements.

Connected Transactions

On 29 May 2018, the Group entered into the Design
Subcontracting Agreements with PT Shenzhen in relation to
the subcontracting of the architectural schematic design work
in respect of Fengshan International Phase 8* (& LI BEE )\
#§) in Ganzhou City, Jiangxi Province in the PRC and Hengrun
Shilijiangwan* (188 +2;T%) in Yongzhou City, Hunan
Province in the PRC. The aggregate contract sum payable
by the Group to PT Shenzhen was RMB7,485,000. As PT
Shenzhen was an associate of Mr. Wang at the material time,
the Design Subcontracting Agreements constitute connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. As all the applicable percentage ratios (other
than profit ratio) are less than 5% and the total consideration
is less than HK$10,000,000, the Design Subcontracting
Agreements are subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempt from the independent Shareholders’
approval requirement under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. For details of the Design Subcontracting Agreements,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29
May 2018.

RBMEEZBRREBSHMASRM 2 FEZ
& TR 30005% (RRIER] ) [ SEBZ A EBBIE
MBERNRETIE] - Y2REBHABET405
[ RN E S L5 R P it 15 A B 5E XX 5 RO AR BRI B
] BAEENREREXZIELRE -

EFEWER - BIEGEM ETRAIZE20.5415 - %8
MERAEBRENSERERDNZBER L
o BHEREERHRG -

AR FIE PRI Bl ORI 2 B

PR EXFTIEEES - MEREDIEL TEKEER
FEREH T X PR ER G RK M T2 FE

BEXZ

R=ZZ—N\FRA=-+NHB KEEEFERYIET
MRS EWHE  ARE BB EIIAEEM
2 & LB N\ AR B & ok N 2 18
) TEBESHARTIEETSE - AEE
AR RI &R E s NRET,485,0007T °
MR AERY BT RERERBEZBEA - HUR
% GEM TR RISE20% © R D B HHERAR
AIMBEERS - BRFTEER A A LE(FBER
SN ERE% B B E 710,000,000 7T +
WS A AR GEM TR BIE20E= 2 AR
MAMIRE  WERCETEIRRERTE - F
st e hEFERE2MARREHA=T—N
FRA-THAAZRM °
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that those
material related party transactions disclosed in note 32
to the financial statements did not fall under the definition
of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The
Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements (if applicable) under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, PT Shenzhen is wholly-
owned by PT Consultants which is in turn owned as to 27.6%
by Mr. Wang, 22.0% by Mr. Kong Lixing (a former executive
Director who resigned on 5 December 2019) and 13.6% by Mr.
Zhao Guo Xing (a former executive Director who resigned on 5
December 2019).
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s employees are selected, remunerated and
promoted based on their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
determined with regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save for the continuing connected transactions and connected
transactions disclosed above, during the Year, the following
Directors had interests in the following business which were
considered to compete or likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group (other than those
business where the Directors were appointed as directors to
represent the interests of the Company and/or the Group):

Name of entity which were
considered to compete or

& BR

AEBZRETVZERR - BB NEENERE - 7]
EMERETT o

ARBEEZMEH2EAKE 2 LEXE - (@R
AL ZRBRAELBHGRAMETE °

BEBERE

REBEARBZ ABMARBRELED - LEBHE
SRR BERZREMEAR B AR L AR AT
RABRRBEEHA -

BE  HEIWMEARQFZ LHES

FA - ARBHEEFAMBEARGEEE -
BRARRRZEF LEHES

EERERBRRRGFERED 2

B EXERHFERER S REER SAREESD -
RER - TIHESERATRESEAKREXRFEE
SREBNKAEBRAF X (EETRERER
BEEURRARAR, SR EE R 2 EBRIN)
REE S

likely to compete with the

Name of Director business of the Group

Description of
competing Business

Nature of interests

WRRELEEEBER
EEnA FAEBRRFE2EREE BREXBHEL ERME
Wang Li Feng PT Consultants Provision of Architectural Directly holding 27.6%
Design Service (other interest in PT Consultants
than technical and and a director
documentation work)
TEE = RMHBERFRBGELER BEEFENEHEMN.6%E

FHERSM)
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Name of Director

Name of entity which were
considered to compete or

likely to compete with the

business of the Group

WEREREBEBERK

Description of
competing Business

Directors’ Report
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Nature of interests

EEnA FAEBRRFE2ERERE BREXBHEL REmME
PT Shenzhen Provision of Architectural Indirectly holding 27.6%
Design Service (other interest in PT Shenzhen
than technical and through PT Consultants
documentation work) and a director
R REHBRERRB(EILER BBRSHARERERER
FHERSM) Y27 6% HEm - WRES
Shanghai PT Architecture Provision of Architectural Indirectly holding 17%
Design & Consultant Co., Design Service (other interest in Shanghai PT and
Ltd (“Shanghai PT") than technical and a director
documentation work)
PERSRERTHEAERA REBERARBGEIER RERE LERE17% %
al([ EBsmE]) FHERSM) WRES
Kong Lixing PT Shenzhen Provision of Architectural Indirectly holding 22.0%
(resigned on 5 Design Service (other interest through PT
December 2019) than technical and Consultants and a director
documentation work)
L A7T R REBRERMB(ELER BBREHARERE220%
(R=ZE—-NEF+=A FHERSM) B WRESF
R HEHE)
Shanghai PT Provision of Architectural Indirectly holding 17%
Design Service (other interest in Shanghai PT and
than technical and a director
documentation work)
EEmE REBRERMRE(EIER MBERE LERE17%ER

PT Consultants

ElCEEED

atERSM)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

RERERE RS (FELERR
STBRSM)

A director and directly
holding 22.0% interest in
PT Consultants

EEVEERSEREESH
22.0%
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Name of Director

EEnE

Name of entity which were
considered to compete or
likely to compete with the
business of the Group
WA REAREBERERK
HUREBERTE 2 ERERE

Description of
competing Business

PR R

Nature of interests

EmitE

Zhao Guo Xing
(resigned on 5
December 2019)

FicfElicd
(BR=ZE—h&F+=A
T HEHE)

He Yongyi
(resigned on 5
December 2019)

falok e,
(BR=—ZE—h&F+=A
T HEHE)

PT Consultants

PT Shenzhen

isbedy el

Shanghai PT

L%

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

RIEEERF RS ETE X
FTERIN)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

R R RS ETE R
FTERIN)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

R R RS ETE®
FTERIN)
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interest in PT Consultants

IS A 13.6% s

Indirectly holding 13.6%
interest through PT
Consultants and a director
and general manager

FRNEERREERE13.6%
B WAEFRAKE

Indirectly holding 17%
interest in Shanghai PT and
a director

R DEME17% s -
TRES



As (i) each of the above Directors is fully aware of their
fiduciary duty to the Group, and will abstain from voting on
any matter where there is or may be a conflict of interest; (ii)
the Master-planning and Architectural Design Business will be
first undertaken by the Group as general design contractor
under the Business Cooperation Agreement, unless otherwise
requested by independent developers; (iii) unless otherwise
requested by independent developers, all master-planning
work shall be first subcontracted to the Group; (iv) the Group
have the first right of refusal on accepting the architectural
schematic design work unless it is specifically requested by the
independent developers that such work shall be performed by
PT Consultants or PT Architectural; and (v) each of Mr. Wang,
Mr. Kong Lixing and Mr. He Yongyi has not involved in the day-
to-day management and operation of Shanghai PT, the Group is
capable of carrying its business independently of and at arm’s
length from the businesses of these entities. Save as disclosed
above, the Directors are not aware of any business and interest
of the Directors that competed or might compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interests which
any such person had or might have with the Group during the
Year.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to HK$14,000.

SUFFICIENCY PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company had, up to the date
of this report, maintained the public float required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and senior management for the
Year in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
or subsisted at the end of the Year.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned
as auditor of the Company with effect from 26 November
2019. BDO Limited (“BDO”) was appointed as auditor of the
Company with effect from 26 November 2019 to fill the casual
vacancy occasioned by the resignation of Deloitte. BDO shall
hold office until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 was audited

% FE SR 175 o

BB AN A0 F NFT L SN F B REDA
Lol e

R BLEm

=g AERT ST ([RE DEHERR BRE
B BZZ—NAF+ A+ BERER - BEYL
ERZETMEBAERAR(ERR]ERE
RARBZEA BT —NWF+—A=+ A
R DR EEHEME LS <RI =R - ER
SNEHEEARFRERRBFERGHERIL - &
E-F-NFTA=1T—HLFE  KaPHH
RIEEE5EZ - RIFIERAR R REBRE

by BDO. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming FAE FHRERBEEAEHNRILEESAARAR]
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO as % &iE °
auditor of the Company.
On behalf of the Board REESE
Wang Li Feng T
CHAIRMAN FEE
25 May 2020 —E-EFRA=-+HAA
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The Company complied throughout the year 2019 with the
code provisions in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
of all directors, all directors confirmed they have compiled with
the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by
the Company. The Company has received, from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation
on his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive directors are independent.

CHANGE OF DIRECTORSHIP DURING AND AFTER
THE REPORTING PERIOD

The nomination committee met for 2 times and 1 time during
and after the Year respectively to introduce new talents to the
Board and fulfill the succession needs of the Board with an aim
to creating sustainable values for the Company’s shareholders.

3 'M‘A*ﬁﬂ:
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Resignations of Directors

° Dr. Zhu Wenhui (“Dr. Zhu”) resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 31 March 2019,
due to his intention to devote more time to his personal
commitments;

° Mr. He Yongyi (“Mr. He”) resigned as an executive
Director and the chief operation officer of the Company
(the “Chief Operation Officer”) with effect from 5
December 2019, due to his intention to concentrate on
his own business engagement.

o Kong Lixing (“Mr. Kong”) resigned as an executive
Director with effect from 5 December 2019, due to his
intention to retire;

o Mr. Zhao Guo Xing (“Mr. Zhao”) resigned as an
executive Director with effect from 5 December 2019,
due to his intention to concentrate on his own business
engagement;

° Mr. Pang Kuo Shi (“Mr. Pang”) resigned as an executive
Director with effect from 5 December 2019; and

° Mr. Lau Ho Kit (“Mr. Lau”) resigned as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 2 March
2020, due to his wish to devote more time to his other
personal, business and honorary work commitments.

The Board is not aware of any matters relating to the
resignations of Dr. Zhu, Mr. He, Mr. Kong, Mr. Zhao, Mr. Pang
and Mr. Lau that need to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company. They have no disagreement
with the Board, and that there are no matters relating to their
resignations that need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders or the Stock Exchange

Appointments of Directors

o Dr. Fong Chi Wai, Alex (“Dr. Fong”) has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 10 January 2019 and is currently a member
of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”);
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o Mr. Lu Yongchao (“Mr. Lu”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 31
March 2019;

o Mr. Yu Sanlong (“Mr. Yu”) was appointed as an

executive Director with effect from 5 December 2019
and is currently a member of the executive committee of
the Company (the “Executive Committee”);

. Mr. Fan Xiaoling (“Mr. Fan”) was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 5 December 2019
and is currently a member of the Executive Committee;

o Ms. Lee Jui-lan (“Ms. Lee”) was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 5 December 2019
and is currently a member of the Executive Committee;

° Dr. Yan Ka Shing (“Dr. Yan”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 5
December 2019 and is currently the chairman of the
Audit Committee and the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”), and a
member of the nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”), the Executive Committee
and the strategy and development committee of the
Company (the “Strategy and Development Committee”);
and

o Dr. Feng Shen (“Dr. Feng”) was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from
3 March 2020 and is currently a member of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Executive Committee and
the Strategy and Development Committee.

Biographical details of Dr. Fong, Mr. Lu, Mr. Yu, Mr. Fan,
Ms. Lee, Dr. Yan, Dr. Feng are set out in the section headed
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” of this report.

BOARD COMPOSITION

On the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of ten
Directors, with four executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wang Li
Feng (Chairman), Mr. Yu Sanlong, Mr. Fan Xiaoling and Ms.
Lee Jui-lan, one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wong
Chun (Deputy Chairman), and five independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Hon. Lo Wai Kwok, SBS, MH, JP, Dr. Fong
Chi Wai, Alex, Mr. Lu Yongchao, Dr. Yan Ka Shing and Dr. Feng
Shen.
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Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Chairman
of the Group is responsible for leading the Board to ensure
that it operates effectively and performs its duties, while
Chief Executive Officer of the Group is responsible for the
overall implementation of the Group’s business development
and general management. The Company’s chairman and
chief executive officer have always been separated and are
exercised by different individuals to ensure a clear division
between the chairman’s responsibility to manage the Board
and the chief executive officer’s responsibility to manage the
Company’s business until the recent re-designation of Mr.
Wong as non-executive Director on 5 December 2019 (the “Re-
designation”). Following the Re-Designation, the Company
currently has no Chief Executive Officer. The daily operation
and management of the Company is monitored by the
executive Directors as disclosed in “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” of this report.
The Board considers that the Company has complied with
Code Provision A.2.1.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The types of decisions taken out by the Board include matters
in relation to:

° corporate and capital structure;

o corporate strategy;

o significant policies affecting the Group as a whole;

° business plan, budgets and public announcements;

° delegation to the Chairman, and delegation to and by

Board committees;
o key financial matters;

° appointment, removal or reappointment of Board
members, senior management and auditors;

o remuneration of directors and senior management; and
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o communication with key stakeholders, including
shareholders and regulatory bodies

The Board has delegated certain decision-making regarding
the daily operation and administration of the Company to the
senior management, the daily operation and management of
the Company is monitored by the executive Directors under the
direction and supervision of the executive Directors.

There are no relationships (including financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationships) among members of
the Board.

BOARD OPERATION

The Board meets regularly over the Company’s affairs and
operations. In 2019, the Board held meetings.

The attendance record of each member of the Board at
the Board meetings and the annual general meeting of the
Company during Year 2019 is set out below:

EEERW|E

E BT BH s
2B

sHEE (BRRRRREEHE)

BEEHENARRAEEE TR A TIRKE
RYaREBEAS ﬁﬂﬁi%%ﬁﬁﬂﬁi%%
BRNEETEEARRZAEBEERERE -

EEeNBZHEMETARBER(ERBME - X5
BEREMEBALEEER) -

EEgER

EXee TGS  SIRARRZERRE
Bo-N_T-NEF EFGRHETER -

EFERKBHFESEERN
BRBERE Z LTI

KRR ZE—NF

Attendance/Number of

meetings
HEE BB
Board

meetings 2019 AGM
—E-hF
Exggl RRBFRE
Mr. Wang FoiE 10/10 1/1
Mr. Yu (appointed on 5 December 2019) FhA(R-Z—NF+_ARBEZT) 2/2 N/A
T A
Mr. Fan (appointed on 5 December 2019) 24 (R=_ZE—NF+_ARBEZT) 2/2 N/A
NiE A
Ms. Lee (appointed on 5 December 2019) &+ (R -ZT—NE+ - A BEZT) 2/2 N/A
TNEA
Mr. He (resigned on 5 December 2019) A (RZZE—NFE+=AABEHTE) 8/9 1/1
Mr. Zhao (resigned on 5 December 2019) 44 (R-E—NE+=- A A HBEET) 9/9 1/1
Mr. Kong (resigned on 5 December 2019) fLE4A(RZZT—NF+ AR BFHE) 7/9 0/
Mr. Pang (resigned on 5 December 2019) A (R =T —NF+= A A BHEHT) 9/9 1/1
Mr. Wong =hAE 10/10 1/1
Mr. Lau (resigned on 2 March 2020) BIEE(ZE_ZF=A —AEHE) 10/10 1/1
Dr. Lo EiET 10/10 0/1
Dr. Zhu (resigned on 31 March 2019) KELT(RZZT—NEFE=A=1T—HFE) 1/4 N/A
i A
Dr. Fong (appointed on 10 January 2019) A&+ (R =_ZT—hF— B +BEZT) 9/9 0N
Mr. Lu (31 March 2019) BRE(CE-NEFE=RAR=+—H) 5/6 0/
Dr. Yan (appointed 5 December 2019) BEE(RZE-NEFT-_AhREZE) 2/2 N/A
TE R
Dr. Feng (appointed on 4 March 2020) B (R=_ZT=_ZTF = SNHEZT) N/A N/A
TNiE A i A
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Remuneration Committee was formed for, inter alia, the
following purposes:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on policies
and structure for remuneration of directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy on such
remuneration;

to determine the remuneration packages for executive
directors and senior management and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Remuneration
Committee was made up of two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Dr. Yan (Chairman) and Dr. Feng, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Wang.

EEREREEAEHE
HIZ BB ERENTEE:
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B &BL& iﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂfﬁ’ﬁﬂ“%ﬂm
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%E(ﬂ?/ﬁ)&ﬁ%ﬁi& FHTESEREMA
B o

The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration WFER @ HEE S KK E 7 HELEHIMT
Committee during the Year is set out below:
Attendance
HE=R
Dr. Yan (appointed 5 December 2019) BRE(R_E-NF+_HAhBEEE) N/A
TE R
Mr. Wang (appointment on 27 April 2020) FEE(RZZ_ZFNA=-+HAEEMF) N/A
&R
Mr. Kong (resigned on 5 December 2019) HEE(RZE h¢+ ARBEHE) 1/1
Mr. Wong (ceased on 27 April 2020) Ef‘ﬁi(b_’\f Z-_TFENA=—+LRHEHE) 1/1
Mr. Lau (resigned on 2 March 2020) BIEE(=F T¢ AZHEHE) 1/1
Dr. Lo (ceased on 27 April 2020) J%Tﬁj:(b\ ZEZEFNAZTEREE) 1/1
Mr. He (resigned on 5 December 2019) AEERZE-—NFT+=AABET) 1/1
Dr. Zhu (resigned on 31 March 2019) KET(RZZ-NF=A=1+—HET) 0N
Dr. Fong (appointed on 10 January 2019) FET(R=ZZ—nF—A+REZE) 1/1
Dr. Feng (appointed on 4 March 2020) BET(R=ZZ_=F=AMAEZEE) N/A
TE R

Details regarding the Company’s emolument policy and long-
term incentive schemes, as well as the basis of determining the
directors’ emoluments are set out in this Annual Report.

40
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The Remuneration Committee will meet and review the
emolument policy and long-term incentive schemes as well
as the basis of determining the emolument payable to the
Company’s directors in Year 2020.

The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration
paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, BDO Limited,
in respect of audit and non-audit services amounted to
HK$1,100,000 and nil respectively.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of the Annual Report, the Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Dr. Yan (Chairman), Dr.
Fong and Dr. Feng.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings and
performed the following duties:

(1) reviewed and commented on the Company’s draft
annual, interim and quarterly financial announcements;

reviewed and commented on the Group’s internal
controls;

met with the external auditors and participated in the
appointment, reappointment and assessment of the
performance of the external auditors; and

The annual results presented herein have been reviewed
by the Audit Committee.
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TEER

HE

The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee
during the Year is set out below:

RER > BRREE@EKB ZHFECEFINMT -

Attendance
HE =
Members of Audit Committee EREEERE
Dr. Yan (appointed 5 December 2019) BR4(RZE-—NFT-HRABEZE) N/A
i A
Mr. Lau (resigned on 2 March 2020) BEE(R_ZE_TF=A_HEHE) 4/4
Dr. Lo (ceased on 27 April 2020) EELT(R_ZT=TFMA = ++HEHE) 4/4
Dr. Zhu (resigned on 31 March 2019) KET(RZZE-NF=A=+T—HEE) 0N
Dr. Fong (appointed on 10 January 2019) F%i(ﬁ*? h¢ B+ BEZRE) 4/4
Mr. Lu (ceased on 27 April 2020) BEE(RZZTEFHNA = ++HEHE) 3/3
Dr. Feng (appointed on 4 March 2020) BEL(RZZETF=HANAEEE) N/A
i A
NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS REAEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee
pursuant to the requirements of the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee adopted the following procedure and criteria for
nomination of Directors:

1 Procedure for Nomination of Directors

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

When there is a vacancy in the Board, the Board
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge
and experience of the Board, and identifies
any special requirements for the vacancy
(e.g. independence status in the case of an
independent non-executive Director).

Prepare a description of the role and capabilities
required for the particular vacancy.

Identify a list of candidates through personal
contacts/recommendations by Board members,
senior management, business partners or
investors.

Arrange interview(s) with each candidate for the
Board to evaluate whether the candidate meets
the established written criteria for nomination of
directors. One or more members of the Board will
attend the interview.

Conduct verification on information provided by
the candidate.

EFeRBEEE /QWE"JZ%EE}&i?E%é,%@ 0
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12 HmE-—DBEZRATZACKE
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13 BBREABE EEIKE SR
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1.6 Convene both nomination committee meeting
and Board meeting to discuss and vote on which
candidate to nominate or appoint to the Board.

2 Criteria for Nomination of Directors

2.1 Common Criteria for All Directors

(a)
(b)

Character and integrity

The willingness to assume broad fiduciary
responsibility

Present needs of the Board for particular
experience or expertise and whether the
candidate would satisfy those needs

Relevant experience, including experience
at the strategy/policy setting level, high
level managerial experience in a complex
organization, industry experience
and familiarity with the products and
processes used by the Company

Significant business or public experience
relevant and beneficial to the Board and

the Company

Breadth of knowledge about issues
affecting the Company

Ability to objectively analyse complex
business problems and exercise sound

business judgment

Ability and willingness to contribute
special competencies to Board activities

Fit with the Company’s culture

Board diversity

1.6
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2.2 Criteria for Non-Executive Directors

(a) Willingness and ability to make a
sufficient time commitment to the affairs
of the Company in order to effectively
perform the duties of a director, including
attendance at and active participation in
Board and committee meetings

(b) Accomplishments of the candidate in his
or her field

(c) Outstanding professional and personal
reputation

(d) The candidate’s ability to meet the
independence criteria for directors
established in the GEM Listing Rules

In structuring of the Board composition, by taking into account
the Group’s board diversity policy, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. All the ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As at the date of the Annual Report, the nomination committee
was made up of one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang, and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Yan and
Dr. Feng.

The attendance record of each member of the nomination
committee during the Year is set out below:

22 FRTEFZRE

(a) HARBAEBRATZSKHE
ZEMNEEN - LBERME

TEFRE  BROUFES
erZBegR  UREE2
HZERH

(b) REAEEITEZAB

(c) EEXREAREBLR
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BEZTEBER - ARBERZETHEEEZTSNK
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Attendance
HiER

Members of Nomination Committee REZEEME
Mr. Wang EiE 1/1
Mr. Pang (resigned on 5 December 2019) EBARERZZE-—NFTZARAET) 1/1
Mr. Zhao (resigned on 5 December 2019) HEERZZE-—NFT=AABET) 1/1
Mr. Lau (resigned on 2 March 2020) BIEE(R=ZT=_TF = - HEHT) 1/1
Dr. Lo (ceased on 27 April 2020) EFT(R_ZE=TFNHA=+tHHE) 1/1
Dr. Zhu (resigned on 31 March 2019) KET(RZZ—-NF=A=1+—H§T) 0N
Dr. Fong (appointed on 10 January 2019 and S+ (R=_FT—hF— A+ AEZTIRN 1/1

ceased on 27 April 2020) ZETFMOA T EHEE)

Dr. Yan (appointed 5 December 2019) 24N NFTZHRABEZE) N/A
A
Dr. Feng (appointed on 4 March 2020) BET(R=ZZ_=F=FAMAELE) N/A
TE R
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities
and are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The Company would provide to each newly appointed
director or alternative director an induction package covering
the summary of the responsibilities and liabilities of a director of
a Hong Kong listed company, the Group’s businesses and the
statutory regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company
as well as the Company’s constitutional documents to ensure
that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Company has provided information related to the changes
in the GEM Listing Rules to the directors to update and refresh
the directors’ knowledge on the latest developments to the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company will continuously update
the directors on the latest developments to the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure
compliance and enhance the directors’ awareness of good
corporate governance practices.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

According to the Bye-Laws of the Company, any one or
more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for
publicly available information and provide comments and
suggestions to directors or management of the Company. Such
questions, requests and comments can be addressed to Mr.
Wang Li Feng by email to lifengwang@188.com or Mr. Patrick
Chang (5kEF# ) at changpatrick@gmail.com.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws, rules and regulations and subject to the Bye-laws of the
Company.

The dividends may be paid up in the form of the Company’s
shares in addition to cash, by the distribution of specific assets
of any kind or by distribution of any form. Subject to compliance
with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Bye-laws of
the Company, in deciding whether to propose any dividend
payout, the Board will take into account, among other things,
the financial results, the earnings, losses and distributable
reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements, the debt
ratio and possible effects on the credit lines, and the current
and future development plans of the Company.
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IBDO

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR

25% Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EEE  +852 2218 8288 BEBTHER1115
5K : +852 2815 2239 K Z 2518

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GLORY MARK HI-TECH
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda

with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Glory Mark Hi-Tech (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 53 to
159, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Revenue recognition on contract work of comprehensive
architectural services

We identified the revenue recognition on contract work of
comprehensive architectural services as a key audit matter due
to the significant judgement and estimate used by management
to determine the total cost to complete and the contract costs
incurred for work performed to date.

The Group earned revenue from its provision of comprehensive
architectural services amounted to HK$67,078,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2019. The Group recognises
service revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the
design activities at the end of the reporting period, measured
based on the proportion of contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs.
Accordingly, revenue recognition on these service contracts
involves a significant degree of management judgement in the
estimation of the total contract costs and stage of completion of
each contract.

Refer to notes 3(c), 4(b) and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on contract
work of comprehensive architectural services included:

° Understanding and evluating management’s process
relating to the estimation of total contract costs,
determination of the stage of completion and recording
of contract costs;

° Comparing contract sum and budgeted contract costs
to respective signed contracts and approved budgets
on a sample basis;
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° Discussing with the management and testing the
supporting evidences to evaluate the reasonableness of
management’s estimation of the total contract costs and
contract costs incurred for work performed to date on a
sample basis; and

o Assessing reliability of contract budgets by comparing
actual contract costs against budgeted costs of
completed projects.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements
on 26 March 2019.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Independent Auditor’s Report
R G
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Wendy W.Y. Fong

Practising Certificate Number: P06821

Hong Kong, 25 May 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEBEEREMZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)N\F
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
Kat FET FEr
Revenue WA 5 347,973 388,770
Cost of sales and services rendered $HE AR AR TS B A (288,541) (322,309)
Gross profit EF 59,432 66,461
Other income =N 3,170 3,451
Other gains and losses E bz MK (1,167) (605)
Change in fair value of investment REMENTEED 14
properties (230) 1,020
Share of profit of joint ventures ElIEEERE R 1,135 2,239
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RS HAX (8,941) (12,011)
Administrative expenses THRX (37,853) (32,460)
Profit before taxation B A5 Al ) 9 15,546 28,095
Income tax expense FriSfis = 8 (3,676) (3,661)
Profit for the year FRRF 11,870 24,434
Other comprehensive income Hitt2E K E
Item that may be reclassified R g EF 7 E 1Ram o H
subsequently to profit or loss: A :
Exchange differences arising on MEGINETFFELE 2 EH =58
translation of foreign operations (758) (692)
Total comprehensive income for the FRZEWHAE
year 11,112 23,742
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: A~ A L EMEER%EF, (&
B):
Owners of the Company KARERA 12,255 24,456
Non-controlling interests IR A S (385) (22)
11,870 24,434
Total comprehensive income IATATEEFAZERE
for the year attributable to: #azE
Owners of the Company RAREEA 11,497 23,764
Non-controlling interests FEIER A = (385) (22)
11,112 23,742
Earnings per share SR & T HK1.91 cents  HK3.82 cents
Basic and diluted BEARREE 11 1.91784l 3.82/8l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBRRR

As at 31 December 2019 R —ZE—hF+=-A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Kt FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENERE 12 47,712 51,766
Right-of-use assets EREEE 13 8,014 —
Prepaid lease payments FENES 13 — 7,498
Investment properties A 14 14,750 14,980
Interests in joint ventures REBLEMELD 15 3,763 2,628
Club debenture SHTES 16 — 1,160
Deposits paid Bf%e 17 949 1,445
75,188 79,477
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories ey 18 35,345 43,930
Trade and other receivables B 5 N EMEUERK 19 64,791 80,525
Contract assets EREE 20 1,250 5,630
Prepaid lease payments FENES 13 — 220
Bank balances and cash IRITHERNIRS 21 79,871 65,087
181,257 195,392
TOTAL ASSETS EEHBE 256,445 274,869
CURRENT LIABILITIES wREAE
Trade payables, other payables and B EMNERN - HA AR K
accruals TERER 22 81,936 103,147
Contract liabilities BHBE 23 5,253 12,770
Amounts due to directors N EEFIE 24 — 1,473
Lease liabilities HEaFE 13 413 —
Tax liabilities HIEBEE 38,770 36,999
126,372 154,389
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 54,885 41,003
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBERE
LIABILITIES 130,073 120,480
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI R

As at 31 December 2019 R —ZE—hFE+=-A=+—8H

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZE-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
it FETT FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FFRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 13 401 —
TOTAL LIABILITES BEAE 126,773 154,389
NET ASSETS BEEFRE 129,672 120,480
CAPITAL AND RESERVES PR AR i
Share capital R& A 25 6,400 6,400
Reserves [EaE 123,217 113,640
Equity attributable to owners of the RARIES AEG 2 s
Company 129,617 120,040
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR AR 55 440
TOTAL EQUITY R 129,672 120,480

The consolidated financial statements on pages 53 to 159 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
25 May 2020 and are signed on behalf by:

Wang Li Feng

B

DIRECTOR

EF

RERE

FEE3E19B KB BRERN_E_EFHA
“tHAREESEREETE  WAHITES

Fan Xiaoling
T
DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

AARERAEL 2 EE
Non-
Share Merger  Translation Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total
AEN X B REER Mt FERER @t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
(Note 25) (Note)
B2 (Fizt)
At 1 January 2018 R=ZE—\F—H—H 6,400 680 11,443 87,353 105,876 462 106,338
Profit/(loss) for the year FNEF/(E8) — — — 24,456 24,456 (22) 24,434
Other comprehensive Hitz2Eks
income — — (692) — (692) — (692)
Total comprehensive income  FR2 258
for the year = — (692) 24,456 23,764 (22) 28,742
Dividends (note 10) R 2 (fE10) — = — (9,600) (9,600) = (9,600)
At 31 December 2018 RIE-N\&
+-RA=+—-H 6,400 680 10,751 102,209 120,040 440 120,480
Profit/(loss) for the year FNEF/(EE) — — = 12,255 12,255 (385) 11,870
Other comprehensive income Ef 2 & — — (758) — (758) = (758)
Total comprehensive income  FR2 258
for the year — = (758) 12,055 11,497 (385) 11,112
Dividends (note 10) R E.(F13E10) — — = (1,920) (1,920) — (1,920)
At 31 December 2019 R=ZF-N&F
+-RA=+—-H 6,400 680 9,993 112,544 129,617 59 129,672

Note: The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between Hiat -
the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and

the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued for the
acquisition under the group reorganisation in 2001.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HMEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—g-nE T )F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEr
OPERATING ACTIVITIES MR
Profit before taxation BR 75 Bl ) 15,546 28,095
Adjustments for: BATSIEEL A
Interest expenses on lease liabilities MEAEMNSMX 4 =
Interest income on bank deposits RITIERFI B UA (385) (281)
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WEREEITE
equipment 6,642 7,600
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 394 -
Amortisation of prepaid lease A HE#
payments - 208
Impairment loss on club debenture gRTESRIERE 788 -
Provision of allowance for credit EEEERE
losses 2,123 2,140
Provision of allowance for inventories 1 &## 1,138 2,742
Change in fair value of investment WEMEATEE
properties 230 (1,020)
Share of profit of joint ventures EEEBERERN (1,135) (2,239)
Write off of deposits paid MEHEES — 605
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - BREREEKE
and equipment (338) —
Operating cash flows before LEECEYRI K ERERE
movements in working capital 25,007 37,870
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERLD(1m) 7,447 (11,059)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other ‘& 5 [ 2 fb FEULBR 7K
receivables A (38 h0) 13,611 (409)
Decrease in trade payables, other B 5RM - H IR R Ta R
payables and accruals BARL (21,211) (3,978)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets & #1&ER L (3E0) 4,380 (4,657)
(Decrease)/increase in contract AHEECRD),
liabilities (7,517) 852
Cash generated from operations KEMBIRE 21,717 18,619
Income taxes paid BETER (1,905) (460)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REXBMEREFHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 19,812 18,159
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SFERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEH
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - BEMKREMEHIE
plant and equipment 367 —
Interest received BUFE 385 281
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  WEARE
equipment (3,980) (2,670)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits paid ~ EEWE - M= KR EZ ONIE
for acquisition of property, plant and SR (350)
equipment 496 (1,293)
Proceeds from disposal of club HEEFRESKA
debenture 372 —
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXEBAREEHE
ACTIVITIES (2,360) (3,682)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Note 35) Rl (MIFE35)
Repayment of principal portion of lease TEBEALIDER
liabilities (33) -
Interest paid for leases BAEEHNE (4) —
Dividends paid BRERE (1,920) (9,600)
Repayment of amounts due to directors 1{&3& fE{ & E I8 (1,473) -
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMEXEBAREEE
ACTIVITIES (3,430) (9,600)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BR&RZEREHEE ENFEE
EQUIVALENTS 14,022 4,877
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RA—A—HAZzR&REFRS
1 JANUARY HA 65,087 61,608
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXR#B 5%
RATE CHANGES 762 (1,398)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R+-—A=+—BzEEKE
AT 31 DECEMBER, represented by BEREMEE - DERITAESHR K
bank balances and cash HERT 79,871 65,087
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability. The
shares of the Company were listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 4 January 2002.

The addresses of the registered office of the Company is
located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda and the principal place of business
in Hong Kong is at Unit 802, Level 8, Admiralty Centre,
Tower 2, 18 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of connectivity products mainly for
computers and peripheral products, and provision of
comprehensive architectural services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The functional currency of
the Company is United States dollars (“USD”). As the
Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) consider that it is appropriate
to present the consolidated financial statements in HK$.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
has issued a number of new or amended HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group:

° HKFRS 16, Leases

o HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments
o Amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment Features

with Negative Compensation

° Amendments to HKAS 19, Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

—REHR

ARBIREFREREEMKLEN B FE
FEZBRRAR - RARKRNE_ZTET_
F-AOBEBRBEEBARXSMABRAR
(B2 PfT]) GEM £ e

RNRAFFMPEERZM U A Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda, MM B AR+ EL L2 BEH
SIEERE185/8E /0 2RE8IE802E o

ARRARERER AT - MEK B Q5
BRI ASEDIERFEREREEEEN
RER K ABER EREMRFER LR
EZEER

RAEPBHRRIIABTT(TETD 2 - %
T(IERTDRARBNEER - ERAR
ARERLT ARBEF(EFDRE
NBT2IGAMBHRREBRE °

FER#TE] B R R & 2 A ([ FEM
BREER ) REBHBRELERSFT A

REERBERNIT BB BHREER

REBMBREEETA

FEEMASERME TRAKEE A

St IR AR ER LB R] EER]

FEWHREER :

e FEUHHREENFE 165 - HE

© FE(ERVBHRERERES)—
REF23 - ENRIEZ THEE
12

© BEMHRELAFIREFTA - A
B AmE 2 AN TR

. BB G ERNE1SREFTA - 518l
ERT ~ MRS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

° Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

° Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12

and HKAS 23 included in Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”)

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases
("HKAS 17”), and the related interpretations.

GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 28 (1) GR A 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore,
the Group has not reassessed contracts which already
existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1
January 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease
in accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS
16 in assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS
16, the Group is not required to make any adjustment
on transition for leases in which the Group is a lessor
but account for these leases in accordance with HKFRS
16 from the date of initial application and comparative
information has not been restated.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2019. As at 1 January 2019, the
Group elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends within
12 months of the date of initial application. The Group
recognised additional lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets at amounts equal to the related lease liabilities
adjusted by any prepaid lease payments by applying
HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the
date of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained earnings and comparative information has not
been restated.

R &R M REER ([ FEM
BREER ) RERMBRESEAUE
HENE )

EEMKBREENEI6HAE([EBUHE
MEXEHZE16%E 1) ()

HERESH

AEECEERATREE - BLERER
FREGENFNTRRES (BRYBRSE
REZEe) REFIRETLHEEE
EHEEERISHEENENEREEMBR
EAERIE 165 - 1M M B 55 R R BB &
BREEENANRAZER - Fitt - K&
Y EEHFENERERBHIEFE
HIBA] o

AR _ZE-NF—A—-BRZKFILKE
FINAAME ARERFEEHREE
SHERRBEEEVHHRE LR E165RH
FMHRTEERAEENERS

ER A

RIBE B Y5 E E RS 1657 1) BIE MR
X AREBARASESTEEANEE
RBERELERARE - EAREREM
BiEEANE 165 B BRER AR RZ
FHEAR - MELBERIL R TIAESD

TERABEA

REEDBPEADTBUEREERZE16
SR ERERABE - —hE— A
—HEREATE - N _TE—hhE—F—
B AEBEBRETEREHEEEKEH
RERERBHEN12(EA8 RERNEEN
HEEE  AEERBERERATBME
RIS 1658 C8(b) (i) AHBEREE &
(BN EESAR) 2 HESHEERSE
WIHEBBREAREE - REXER
Az R E=mR B FERAER &L
BRARNIAR T AES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the
following practical expedients to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-
by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the respective
lease contracts:

i. excluded initial direct costs from measuring
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application; and

ii. used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group’s leases with extension
options.

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use

AT ERMBE®REER(FEM
BREER ) RERMBRESEUE
HENE )

ERMBRELENEI16HEBE([FEHE
WEERIFE16%E ) (&)

ERABA ()

ENBEMRIEE BB REERIF 165
ERERERTER - AREHBERE
FEEHERFITROBARERN2HE
E AEZXEMEEZAR L AXENEE
BRNERSEANERNLTREDR

i FBREXEARRAERREE
EFMEENVIFERRAN + &

i, REREXAEAAHNEEREBER
ERERTASAEEARERE
BRENHEETHEY -

RZZF-NF-A—AFERZEREER

as at 1 January 2019 comprises the following: EZREESENTEE :
Right-of-use
assets
EREEE
HK$000
FET

Reclassified from prepaid lease payments BEMHESEFSHE

(Note a) (FFzEa) 7,718
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group at 1 January 2019. Line items
that were not affected by the changes have not been
included.

ERAMTEEMBREE(FEY
BREER ) RERMBRESEAUE
HENE )

EEMKBREENEI6HAE([EBUHE
MEXEHZE16%E 1) ()

ERABA ()
ATHBEDHR -_T—-—NF—A—HBHAE

KERAMBIRAERT RN SRS
TREBTENITRE TNFTAER

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16
31 December at 1 January
Note 2018  Adjustments 2019
RZZT—hF
—H—H
RZE—NF BEEE
T=H=1+— W5
BRI 2R ZERIZE165%
et HAREE AR HRNREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FAET
Non-current assets B EE
Prepaid lease payments e (a) 7,498 (7,498) —
Right-of-use assets FREEE (a) — 7,718 7,718
Current asset MBNEE
Prepaid lease payments e (a) 220 (220) —
Note: Bt
(a) Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the People’s Republic (a) R=F—NFT-A=+—8 ' REARHRM

of China (the “PRC”) for own use properties were classified
as prepaid lease payments as at 31 December 2018. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the current and non-current portion
of prepaid lease payments amounting to approximately
HK$220,000 and HK$7,498,000, respectively, were reclassified
to right-of-use assets.

B(HREDEE R AE L2 ARKRIEA
PEREMESL - ERABBMBERELERE
165k 1% - BT/ BN R IERNEAEE S 5 B4
220,000/ 7T }2.7,498,0007 7L B EF1 5 18 A(E
FREEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”) (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The following reconciliation explains how the operating
lease commitments disclosed applying HKAS 17 at
the end of 31 December 2018 could be reconciled
to the lease liabilities at the date of initial application
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2019:

AT ERMBE®REER(FEM
BREER ) RERMBRESEUE
HENE )

ERMBRELENEI16HEBE([FEHE
WEERIFE16%E ) (&)

TERABA (1)

THSERHPAR - E—NE+ A =+—
ARERESGHEE17REELER
EAENAEEER-_E—NLF—A—H
REMBIKRRVIEERABPNHEESRE

HK$'000
FEIT
Reconciliation of operating lease KEHEREHREHERRE
commitments to lease liabilities
Operating lease commitments as of 31 BE-Z-N\F+=-A=+—8H
December 2018 (BT B RE 1,916
Less: short term leases for which lease BHBR - NF+=-_A=+—8H
terms end within 31 December 2019 AIfEmA R HIFRE (1,916)

Total lease liabilities as of 1 January 2019

Information about the Group’s accounting policies
resulting from application of HKFRS 16 and further
details of the Group's right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are disclosed in notes 3(d) and 13 respectively.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS
12, Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how
to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for
income taxes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments (Continued)

Under the interpretation, the entity shall determine
whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment
separately or together based on which approach better
predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The entity shall
also assume the tax authority will examine amounts that
it has a right to examine and have full knowledge of all
related information when making those examinations. If
the entity determines it is probable that the tax authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the entity
should measure current and deferred tax in line with
its tax filings. If the entity determines it is not probable,
then the uncertainty in the determination of tax is
reflected using either the “most likely amount” or the
“expected value” approach, whichever better predicts
the resolution of the uncertainty.

The adoption of the interpretation has no impact on
these financial statements as the Group does not have
any uncertain tax position.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 — Prepayment Features
with Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial
assets with negative compensation can be measured
at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income if specified conditions are met
— instead of at fair value through profit or loss.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact
on these financial statements as the Group does not
have any prepayable financial assets with negative
compensation.

2.

ERAMTEEMBREE(FEY
BREER ) RERMBRESEAUE
HENE )

EER(ARVBRERBREES) - RES
233 — FIEHREE 2 A REM(#)

REZ2E ERAEEDHIAETERE
BRTHEENIARE - AR ETRB T HEE
HREMNFIRTTE - ERITABRRBHEH
AReEREARERNEHE  YEEDL
tEREE2EANEAAHRBEER - ME
BREENRGHAR SR — AT EEMR
R - QBRI BEN B RAR
B0 NET E BN FUREN A - B R HETE
W HE N A e @R X — RN EE R
2 - BIERAI&RA RS RR k[ FAHE M E
JIEP BB EETRRI T HEE AR T A
TR RBREE FE A58 M N ETE I

A AN ER 18 30 AT ] N E RIS AR - R
WRBHZSV B RR L EEMZE

ERMBREEARIREITL—ELEER
E AN RERER

ERIARE  HENGERAKE - ABA
B RO TR & B E ZE P LA SH AR AN 3 A 3R
NFEFAEMEZEKEAE - MAER
FEFT ARG E °
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BMEE  ROZXFEITAHZFYH®REK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 19 — Plan amendments,
curtailment or settlement

The amendments clarify that on amendment, curtailment
or settlement of a defined benefit plan, a company
should use updated actuarial assumptions to determine
its current service cost and net interest for the year.
Additionally, the effect of the asset ceiling is disregarded
when calculating the gain or loss on any settlement
of the plan and is dealt with separately in other
comprehensive income.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on
these financial statements as the Group does not have
any defined benefit plans.

Amendments to HKAS 28 — Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendment clarifies that HKFRS 9 applies to long-
term interests (“LTI”) in associates or joint ventures
which form part of the net investment in the associates
or joint ventures and stipulates that HKFRS 9 is applied
to these LTI before the impairment losses guidance
within HKAS 28.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on
these financial statements as the Group does not have
any interests in associates and joint ventures.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle —
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes

The amendments issued under the annual
improvements process make small, non-urgent changes
to standards where they are currently unclear. They
include amendments to HKAS 12 which clarify that all
income tax consequences of dividends are recognised
consistently with the transactions that generated
the distributable profits, either in profit or loss, other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on
these financial statements as the Group does not have
any dividends recognised during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle —
Amendments to HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs

The amendments issued under the annual
improvements process make small, non-urgent changes
to standards where they are currently unclear. They
include amendments to HKAS 23 which clarifies that a
borrowing made specifically to obtain a qualifying asset
which remains outstanding after the related qualifying
asset is ready for its intended use or sale would become
part of the funds an entity borrows generally and
therefore included in the general pool.

The adoption of these amendments has no impact on
these financial statements as the Group does not have
any borrowing costs that fulfilled the capitalisation
requirements in accordance to HKAS 23.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 3  Definition of a Business'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material®

and HKAS 8
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28

Insurance Contracts®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?*
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

ERAMTEEMBREE(FEY
BREER ) RERMBRESEAUE
HENE )

EEMRBEEN S -AFE_T—+tF
Bz FERE—FBETERFE23%E
AIAS o AR

IR 2 BOE B2 3 VS RT S RI B Al
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AR BB BHREEMETER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

i Effective for business combinations and asset
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined

Except for the amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS
8 mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (*HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of
Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition
of material by including additional guidance and
explanations in making materiality judgements. In
particular, the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material
information in which the effect is similar to
omitting or misstating the information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users
from “could influence” to “could reasonably be
expected to influence”; and

o include the use of the phrase “primary users”
rather than simply referring to “users” which
was considered too broad when deciding what
information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across
all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2020.
The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group but may affect the
presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties that are measured at fair values at
the end of each accounting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 28 (1) GR A 7

ERERHE

BAMBREDEEEESHAAREMS
TEBUBREEARY - LI 5D
B 5 RK B AR AT GEM 3B % 3R 8
(TGEM L3881 ) R &SR AEHIREZ
T -

BMINT XN H 2 @t BRAMA - 424 5
BHRERIIRE LKA LGRS - MREYE
AR EEEF R A HETE -

JE SE AN — MRAR IR R IR & am S AR T i
MHREZAFERE -

NHEERFTERPRESEZR ST M
B2 EEZFAHEEERKRKEZRER
BN NOER  TEERSERER
ABRAMA R —EEXRIGGEEME - &b
AEERRENRTER  AEEEEE
R ERMKME2EEREELABTE
BERE@EZEMNEEXRBEIER - ElE
RAMBERERT  HMAERYREEAR
MBS R FEDZUEEEE - EES
BB HREERNERUR D BERZ T
BERNZABRDRERZINRRS - &F
BB RELERF1RBENEER S A
KBERAFHERBRUZRELIERFEG
£ flanEA R Rk R A
FERE B ST ERIF 365 & Z B E K E
FEBE - BITELLR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where
the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE - T

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of joint
venture used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of
the joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Interests in joint ventures (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in a joint venture may
be impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the joint venture
that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises
revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating
to a contract are accounted for and presented on
a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE - T

(c)

(d)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Leases (accounting policies applied from 1
January 2019)

All leases (irrespective of they are operating
leases or finance leases) are required to be
capitalised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist
for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for
which the underlying asset is of low-value. The
Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets
and leases for which at the commencement date
have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the
lease term.

—NEFT-A=+—BIFE

3. BEESHEE®)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Leases (accounting policies applied from 1
January 2019) (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs
are incurred to produce inventories. Except for
right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property or a class of property, plant
and equipment to which the Group applies the
revaluation model, the Group measures the right-
of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the
cost model, the Group measures the right-to-
use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group has leased a number of properties
under tenancy agreements which the Group
exercises it judgement and determines that it is a
separate class of asset apart from the leasehold
land and buildings which is held for own use. As
a result, the right-of-use asset arising from the
properties under tenancy agreements are carried
at depreciated cost.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can
be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

3. BEESHEE®)

(d)

HE(BE=ZE-h&F-A—Bi
RS HRE) @)

EFREE

ERAREEREKAERILEE
B()VHERBEZNIHESE
(RTXEBEHERBARZ &R
)+ (i) 10FA B B Z AR 2 1E
AAEMFTRERNE KEICHEE
B (i) AHAEEZEMNFER
A B (iv) AR A TE B IR M 15
HRTE 2 BN T IrkR B HEE
ERSEL ZAFTRA - EZFEX
ADREEFEMELEERI © &
NEREMEIRBYE  BER
RE(AEEBR L EAEGBEL)E
BZEREEEI  AEEEAK
AELAEBEREEE - REKA
A - NS B iR A AR (1] R T
FEREMREBREERES
E-URHERBELEMERIE
TR FEEE

AEEEREBEEEREEEZEY
X MAKETEAHBIETHS
FEBERANEE L REF AN
BUERIEE - At - HEHZEER
THEEENEREEERTERK
AR

HERE

HEREREYIFNEERR B H
SN2 HEMNKHNRERR - HE
RS ER A SR S r A = RE3R (fd
SRR EHET) o Wz MR EA
KHET  AREHRAAEED

#2 EFRI -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 3%} 2019

yer/



/8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Leases (accounting policies applied from 1
January 2019) (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are
not paid at the commencement date of the lease
are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable:
(ii) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price
of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise that option and (v) payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date,
the Group measures the lease liability by: (i)
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made; and
(iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect
any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g.,
a change in future lease payments arising from
change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to
purchase the underlying asset.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Leases (accounting policies applied until 31
December 2018)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset. Other than
investment properties measured under fair value
model, such costs are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Leases (accounting policies applied until 31
December 2018) (Continued)

Leasehold land and building (accounting
policies applied until 31 December 2018)

When the Group makes payments for a property
interest which includes both leasehold land
and building elements, the Group assesses the
classification of each element separately based
on the assessment as to whether substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire
property is accounted as an operating lease.
Specifically, the entire consideration (including
any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element at initial recognition. To the
extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
that is accounted for as an operating lease is
presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

®

(9)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchanges rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plan, state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.
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mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit
before taxation” because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and interest in a
joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments
and interest are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property
over time, rather than through sale.
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mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

1)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they are relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group
intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including
buildings held for use in the production or supply
of goods, or for administrative purposes are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

()

(m)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured
at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair
values. All of the Group’s property interests held
under operating leases to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation purposes are classified and
accounted for as investment properties and are
measured using the fair value model. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.

Club debenture

Club debenture with indefinite useful life that is
acquired separately is carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible to
determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible asset with indefinite useful life
is tested for impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that it may be
impaired.
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mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

(m)

(n)

GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 28 (1) GR A 7

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets
(Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit and loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost of inventories are
determined on a first-in, first-out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit- impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

3. BEESHEE®)

(o)

GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 28 (1) GR A 7

EHEENTERE T E

WRUT S A E L8
WRAEE

. NEBEHRSRER B H
MBEEMEEZXHR
AR

. BRIGRFRIEE R HEELD
RERBARAINAE R
REERZHHE -

BB AR EIA

MERZBHEKAGENSRTA
mE - MEBWARREERM R AR
R MBRAEEHEREENE
REEERAERMEE - HEHER
HBREERENEBEERINET
30 RERHBEERENEHE
EMs  MEBRASEEE TE®RS
HEEH SR EENBHEKAER
ERFRER - WE HIREERIE
MEMTASERRAMNKE @&
TREETBHRESRME AR
BEEETNBHREEREROR
SHIRFGE  ZRUSRMEER
FREEFE A BRI RFERAMEIA -



3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE - T

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL") on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables,
bank balances and cash and contract assets).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events over
the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12 months ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for
trade receivables and contract assets. The ECL
on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances or collectively
using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12 months ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.

~ e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE - T

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread and the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit- impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(a)

(b)

GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 28 (1) GR A 7

significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active
market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective
basis or cater for cases where evidence
at the individual instrument level may not
yet be available, the financial instruments
are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments
(i.e. the Group’s trade and other
receivables and contract assets
are each assessed as a separate

group);
° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of

debtors; and

° External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities
at amortised cost including trade and other
payables, borrowings, certain preference
shares and the debt element of convertible loan
note issued by the Group are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Equity

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

~ e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE - T

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(a)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations (see below),
that the directors of the Company have made in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from
investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the
Company have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are not held under
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have
determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured
using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the
Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on
changes in fair value of investment properties as
the Group is not subject to any income taxes in
relation to the fair value changes of investment
properties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition on contract work

The management estimates the amount of
foreseeable losses or attributable profits of
comprehensive architectural design work based
on the latest available budgets of the contracts
prepared by project team with reference to
the overall performance of each contract work
and the management’s best estimates and
judgements.

Due to the contracting nature of the business,
revenue recognition involves a significant
degree of judgement. Notwithstanding that the
management reviews and revises the estimates
of contract costs for the contract as the contract
progresses, the actual outcome of the contract
in terms of its total costs may be higher or lower
than the estimates and this will affect the revenue
and profit recognised.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate
ECL for the trade receivables and contract
assets. The provision rates are based on internal
credit ratings as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default
rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. In
addition, trade receivables and contract assets
with significant balances and credit impaired are
assessed for ECL individually.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the Group’s
trade receivables, contract assets and the ECL
assessment are disclosed in notes 19, 20 and
31(b)(ii) respectively.

Fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2019, investment properties
were carried at aggregate fair value of
HK$14,750,000 (2018: HK$14,980,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
The fair value was based on valuations on these
properties conducted by independent qualified
valuers using property valuation techniques
which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes
to these assumptions would result in changes
in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Further details of the fair
value measurement of the Group's investment
properties are set out in note 14.
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5.

100

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers

For the year ended 31 December 2019

L ON

() BHEEFEHKA

BE-E—h&E+=-A=+—HI1

R
Contracts of
Sales of comprehensive
connectivity architectural
products services Total
HE 2EEE
ERER &% st
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FAT FAT FAETT
Geographical markets wEME
Korea B 94,425 — 94,425
The PRC H 10,058 67,078 77,136
Japan AR 68,709 = 68,709
United States of America (‘USA”) ZHRARE([ZE)) 71,366 = 71,366
Taiwan =) 24,107 — 24,107
Others Hit, 12,230 — 12,230
Total st 280,895 67,078 347,973
Types of customers ERER
Original equipment manufacturer RREBEER
(“OEM”) customers ([OEMNEF 183,933 — 183,933
Retail distributors TENHE 96,962 — 96,962
Independent contractors BRI — 67,078 67,078
Total @5t 280,895 67,078 347,973
Timing of revenue recognition WA TR
A paint in time RER R 280,895 — 280,895
Qver time Fabs — 67,078 67,078
Total st 280,895 67,078 347,973
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REVENUE (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2018

WA (&)

() PHEEFESHAYRA(#)

BE-2—N\HE+=-HA=+—HI1

FE
Contracts of
Sales of comprehensive
connectivity architectural
products services Total
HE ZHEE
ERER R &4 st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FAT FATT
Geographical markets BEME
Korea B 119,651 — 119,651
The PRC H 2,421 44,780 47,201
Japan AR 94,015 — 94,015
United States of America (“USA”) ZHRARE([ZE)) 82,046 = 82,046
Taiwan aE 25,831 - 25,831
Others Hit 20,026 — 20,026
Total Bt 343,990 44,780 388,770
Types of customers EFER
Original equipment manufacturer RRBEER
(“OEM”) customers ([OEMNEF 226,602 — 226,602
Retail distributors ZENHA 117,388 - 117,388
Independent contractors BN — 44780 44,780
Total &5t 343,990 44,780 388,770
Timing of revenue recognition PN AT
A point in time REFZ 343,990 — 343,990
Over time FelsfE — 44,780 44,780
Total st 343,990 44,780 388,770
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

5.

102

REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

(@)

(b)

Sales of connectivity products

For trading of connectivity products, the
Group sells connectivity products to OEM
customers and retail distributors. Revenue
is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered to the specific
location and confirmed by the customers.

Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services

The Group provides comprehensive
architectural services to independent
contractors. Revenue from such services
are recognised when a performance
obligation is satisfied over time as the
Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed
to date. Revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation using input
method.

The Group’s service contracts include
payment schedules which require stage
payments over the design period once
certain specified milestones are reached.
The Group requires certain customers
to provide upfront deposits range from
10% to 30% of total contract sum, when
the Group receives a deposit before
comprehensive architectural service
commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until
the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit received.
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REVENUE (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b) Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services (Continued)

A contract asset, net of contract
liability related to the same contract,
is recognised over the period in which
the comprehensive architectural
services are performed representing
the Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional upon
meeting the billing milestones.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services are typically completed within one year.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.

WA (&)

(i)

(iii)

BEFEXNHEAEE (&)

(b) EEEZRESLE)

BREECRR—&K/ER
BRNABIRETEERE
R AR - KRAKE
Th P B 1T ARH5 W R A (B 0
Mo RESB BEMBURR
AEBEREEERBENR
KRB - NEKKE B
Ko B AR A AR A B AR B
BEHEEBREEIRICR

=+
e

PEHEEFEXGTEYEFHX
Z1EW%

EPHEZERBANBER —FARZT
X o BB Y ERE LR E 1657
AR UERBESIREZFTRTK
BRI HELE o

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 3%} 2019 103



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

~ e R AR A

For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE - T

104

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision makers
(“CODM"), for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of goods or services delivered or provided.

Segment information reported internally for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment is
analysed based on the class of customers which is the
same as information reported to the CODM:

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under
HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. OEM customers
2. Retail distributors
8 Provision of comprehensive architectural services

No operating segments have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Segment results represent the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of administrative expenses,
selling and distribution expenses, share of profit of joint
ventures, other income, other gains and losses and
change in fair value of investment properties. This is
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Group's segment assets exclude cash and cash
equivalents, other receivables, investment properties,
interests in joint ventures and deposits paid (non-current
assets).

The Group’s segment liabilities are not presented as
they are not regularly reviewed by the Group’s CODM.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue

and results from continuing operations
segments:

by reportable

2 EER )

UTRAERBEREZRD BB D 2 REFE
RERIE 2 WA RFREDHT

2019 2018
5-nE |3
Provision of Provision of
comprehensive comprehensive
OEM Retail architectural OEM Refal architectural
customers  distributors services Total customers — distributors services Total
2E REt2E ZE RtE2E
OEMZF bk ] BERE i OMZP bk BEhH e
HKS 000 HKS' 000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
71 71 71 FEr 71 FAT TAT AT
SEGMENT REVENUE AEHA
—External sales —MHEE 183,933 96,962 67,078 347,973 226,602 117,388 44780 388,770
SEGMENT PROFIT por byl 27,233 15,648 16,951 59,432 4129 11,683 13482 66,461
Unallocated expenses AR (46,794) (44471)
Other income HAgA 3,170 3451
Other gains and losses Efbhaies (1,167) (605)
Change n fairvalue of investment & NEAT(E
pioperties 29 (230) 1,020
Share of profitof jointventues ~ ElEABRER
i 1,135 229
Profit before taxation BHALRR 15,546 28,095
Other segment information: BARER -
Depreciation included incostof B EEEHER
goods sold KHHE (3,703) (2,544) - (6,247) (4577) (26M1) - (7,189)
Provision of allowance on HERE
inventories (675) (463) - (1,138) (1,746) (996) - (2742)
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6.

106

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DHEER(E®)
2019 2018
ZE-pE —Z-)§

Provision of Provision of

comprehensive comprehensive

OEM Retail architectural OEM Retail architectural

customers distributors  Sub-total Services Total  customers distributors ~ Sub-fotal services Total
] R2E

OEMZF REAEHE Nt BERE

HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSUOD  HKSUO00

Bt OIMEF ZEHEE Pt RERE it

HKS000  HKSO00  HKSUOO  HKSODD  HKSUOO

fér BT TEn Fér  fAr TRt TEr TEn FAT AT

ASSETS i
SEGMENT ASSETS ~ £%4E
Taderccehables(ho) EREAER (M) 6208 2673 53001 526 5821 34664 3358 68187 4008 72215
Property, plant and W% BEREE

equipment rightot ~ FREEE B

uscassels, prepaid RS REER

lease payments, ANEENE)

inventories and

contract assets (Aofg) 89,860 2,461 92,321 102,784 6,200 109,044
Totel seqmentassets ~ ABEEAE 142,861 7687 150,548 170971 10288 181,259
Other unallocated assets  EttxEEE 66,813 39,084 105897 67,541 6069 93610
Total assets BEE 209,674 46,71 256445 238512 337 274869
Note: The nature of products, the production processes and M OEMBEPRZESHEmzEREE

the methods used to distribute the products to the
OEM customers and retail distributors are similar. The
Group’s production facilities and inventories are located
in the PRC. These two classes of customers utilise the
Group’s resources in a similar manner. Accordingly,
the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
prepaid lease payments and inventories are not
separately allocated to the individual segments of the
OEM customers and retail distributors. In contrast, the
Group’s CODM regularly review trade receivables by
operating segment.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Taiwan.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the geographical
location of the customers. Information about the
Group’s non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

DHEER(E)

HEE R

REBZEBNNES  FBREE -
REBZHINEREF WAL R IR F i 18

NEZ - N"EEZIFRBEEEF TR
BEMBENERZY -

Revenue from
external customers

IIREFE WA
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Korea G2 e 94,425 119,651
The PRC s 77,136 47,201
Japan BHA 68,709 94,015
USA x 71,366 82,046
Taiwan =y 24,107 25,831
Others E b= 12,230 20,026
347,973 388,770

Non-current assets
FRBEE

2019 2018
—E-NF —TN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
The PRC H 54,695 63,966
Hong Kong BB 20,241 15,097
Others H b= 252 414
75,188 79,477
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6.

108

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.
Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
are as follows:

2 EER )
FEEFEHR

HEFERANEEBWATR0% A LEZ
BERPBALT

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FAET

Customer A BEEA 84,539 112,957
Customer B2 =25 B2 56,417 54,134

T Revenue from OEM customer
2 Revenue from Retail distributor
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 7.

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and
the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:

Executive directors

EERFIETHRAEMEUREERS
RS %

R#BEGEM EMR AR EFERBUEHZ K E
REMBBRZFRNEEREIRTHRABZ
o

BITES

Mr.Wang Mr.Wong' Mr.Pang? Mr.Kong? Mr.Zhao> Mr.He? Ms.Lee*  Mr.Yu® Mr.Fan?®
LiFeng  Chun Kuo-Shi  Lixing GuoXing Yongyi Jui-lan Sanlong Xiaoling Total

ife ER REE A5

kE ORE KE2 RH?
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TAT THAT TET TET

HAR MK FHE TR 809

P S v S ¢ S v S S 1)
HK$000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TAT TRAT TEr  TEr  TEr  TET

2019 ~B-hE

Fees e = = - -
Other emoluments:  Eftifli4

Salariesand other  HE& REMIE

benefits 7l 1,148 1,680 1,692 — 28 — — — — 4548
Retirement benefit ~ iE/RiEF
scheme TR
contributions — 18 15 — — — — — — g3
1148 1698 1,707 - » = - - 458

T re-designed as a non-executive Director on 5 December 2019
2 resigned on 5 December 2019
3 appointed on 5 December 2019

T RIZE-NAF+-ARAREERTES
2 R=E-AF+-—AARRHE
S R-E-NAF+_ARBEE
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 7. EERTETBRAEMEURAEERES
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID FEE ZFHM @)
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Executive directors (Continued) HITES(H)

Mr.Wang Mr.Wong Mr.Pang Mr.Kong Mr.Dong' Mr.Zhao Mr. He
Li Feng Chun  Kuo-Shi Lixing Jiangiang Guo Xing  Yongyi Total

IRE ER REE AnfT EERR  EEE AKE
b3 bk b3 b x5! bk £% -
HK$000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
TET TEr TEr  TEr  TErT TEr BT  TERL

2018 —E-N\F
Fees e 573 — — — — 31 — 604
Other emoluments: Ei
Salaries and other HeREM
benefits 1&#l — 2314 2449 — = — = 4763
Retirement benefit RINEFEE
scheme contributions itz — 18 15 = — = — 33
573 2332 2464 - - 31 — 5400
' resigned on 19 March 2018 TRZZE-NFE=ZATNHEEE
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were AEFESHITES S S EHBEEE AR
for their services in connection with the management of AINAEEER ERRME 2 RS ©

the affairs of the Company and the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 7.

EERTETBRAEMEUREERS

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID FEEZHM )
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Dr.Hon.Lo Dr.Fong*
Wai Kwok  ChiWan,  Dr.Yan® Dr.Feng®  Mr.Lu® Mr.Lau®> Dr.Zhu'
SBS, MH, JP Alex  Ka Shing Shen Yongchao Ho Kit,lvan ~ Wenhui Total
EEEfEL
REAEE
REHE FEE EEE b 2kE Ut KXE
AF#t iy BAS i b b ' st
HK$000 — HK$O00  HK$O0O  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$OOO  HK$000
Hér  TET  FEr  FEr  FEr FEr TErT FEn
2019 ZE-NE
Fees we 120 119 — — 90 120 30 479
Other emoluments: HiES -
Salaries and other e RHEM
benefits BF — — — — — — — —
Retirement benefit BINERIEE
scheme contributions {3 — — — — — — — —
120 119 - - % 120 ) 479

resigned on 31 March 2019
resigned on 2 March 2020
appointed on 31 March 2019
appointed on 10 January 2019
appointed on 5 December 2019
appointed on 3 March 2020

o o0 o~ W N =

R-ZE-NAF=R=+—HEHE
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

7. EBRIETBRAESMEUREEERS

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID HFEEZHFM )
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)
Independent non-executive directors (Continued) BYFEHITES(H)
Dr. Hon. Lo
Mr. Liu? Mr. Lau Wai Kwok Dr. Zhu
Ping Chun  Ho Kit,Ivan SBS, MH, JP Wenhui Total
EEEHEL
REAES
REHET
ZPEEE"  BHELE AT#t+ KNEEL @5t
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET T FET
2018 —E-N\E
Fees we 30 120 120 120 390
Other emoluments: Hi s -
Salaries and other e REAM
benefits & — — — — =
Retirement benefit BKERIFHE
scheme contributions ey — — — — —
30 120 120 120 390

" resigned on 28 March 2018

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

During the current year, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to these directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office and no director had waived any emoluments (2018:
same).

Mr. Wong Chun was re-designated as a non-executive
Director and closed to act as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 5 December 2019 and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the chief executive officer during the
year.

TRZE-NF=A=1+/\HEHME

A EFEBYIFNTES CMESH B RE
ERARRESRHE IR -

AEER  ARERENZFESTHNE
AIE - ERMARINARE B R 2 42
BISEERE  TEEENEREAME (=
T—\F H8R)

BERAER-_ZF-NF+_ARBRER
FATES X TPBEEARANITHRAE
B LXHBBERcMNEBRBIESASE
BT RS 2 ME -

GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 28 (1) GR A 7



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 &= —F—NWFE+_A=+—HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 7. EERTETBAEMEUREEES
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID FEE ZFHM @)
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Employees ==

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during FRNEEAEERERSF EEREME
the year included, two (2018: two) directors, details of ZE-)N\F WMR)ES - HMeFBER
whose emoluments are included above. Details of the MEX - R - FERRAEFTHEEZTH
emoluments for the year of the remaining three (2018: ABWEBR=FZ(ZZE-N\F : =R )&aH
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director EEZMEFFBT -

nor chief executive of the Company are as follow:

2019 2018

—g-nE T )F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Salaries and other benefits e MEMER 10,392 12,659
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  R{RIEFIETEI 2k 81 14
10,473 12,673
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 7. EERTETBRAEMEURAERES
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID FEE ZFHM @)
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

Employees (Continued) EE )
The number of the highest paid employees who are not Ty MEHBEANERRRESH R FE
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell B2HBEMAT

within the following bands is as follow:

2019 2018

—B-NF @ —TN\F

No. of No. of

employee employee

EE®E EE2E

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 —
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T 23,500,000/ 7T = 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7T % 4,000,000 7T 1 —
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 70 % 4,500,000/ 7T — —
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T — 2
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7T 25,500,000/ 7T 1 —
3 3
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount mainly represents current tax expense on
assessable profits arising in the PRC and is calculated
at the rates prevailing in the PRC. Majority of the
subsidiaries are subject to enterprise income tax in the
PRC. The applicable enterprise income tax rate of the
PRC is 25% in accordance with the relevant income tax
law and regulations in the PRC for both years, except for
those subsidiaries described below.

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC fall within the

Preferential Corporate Income Tax Catalogue in the
specific zone. According to Cai Shui (2014) No.26,
qualified companies in Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone are granted
for a reduced enterprise income tax rate of 15% during
the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2020.

Also, certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC were
accredited as “Cultural Innovation Enterprise” by
the local tax authorities and were registered with the
local tax authorities to be eligible to the reduced 15%
enterprise income tax rate for a period of four years from
2017 to 2020. As a result, the tax rate of 15% is used to
calculate the amount of current taxation.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
in the consolidated financial statements as there are no
assessable profits for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

FREHRX

BERSHREIBEEATREL ZERT G
ZEMHBER RIRPBEZBRTH R
B RBoMBRAAFGHTREACRAE
B MEFEAR - RiEHBEBEMASHRZE
BEER  TRERAZEEMERER
25% » T XAtz ST A BERSD o

EFBEEEZETHBARN AR EER
ZEEMEHERR &GN - REMHR
—T—mEF) 265 - AERERKREE
BERAZEERAFAR _T—HNFE—A
—BE-_ZE_TF+_A=+—HHM[A
1% 15% 2 BBV RGMERAEH -

N - EREKE 2B THBAREEH
MBI EARI VLA ERE]  WEE
IR EHEETER BERRZZE—+
FE_Z_TFHNFHBIZ15% 2EBE
MR ZEEH - ALt - 15% 2H =
T RARFEEHIE &5 °

e 7 7 1 47 52 7 3 48 A £ £ 7 3R B
ST EEL S
SHERE -

54 5 R AR S 2 2 BUIR T AR AR AR
HEIE 2 BATRIR AL -
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 8.

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

FriEsimx @)

AEEMEHAXAEGARa R EME
T a2 P2 R A BT M VEIA T ETRR

follows:
2019 2018
—g-h&E —TNF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FAET
Profit before taxation BR A% A 15,546 28,095
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% AR FT1EFiR25% 51 & 2
1A 3,887 7,024
Tax effect of share of profit of joint EIEEEREST 2 B
ventures = (284) (560)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BIRIAM 5 BARMBAZ
purpose s (473) (1,282)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ FEIET 5 NAIHIFFH L2
tax purpose HiETE 650 624
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRBEB ST E 1,018 839
Overprovision in respect of prior years B FERERE — (1,470)
Income tax at concessionary rate REBEBRFE MED (565) (1,062)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R Efh EHERER K4 7 KB
operating in other jurisdictions REIMETR & (557) (452)
Income tax expense for the year REFZFAEMHAS 3,676 3,661

At 31 December 2019, subject to the agreement by
Inland Revenue Department, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$22,374,000 (2018: HK$16,206,000)
available for offset against future profits. The tax losses
are arising from certain Hong Kong subsidiaries which
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax
assets has been recognised in respect of such tax
losses due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BiANER
2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T TFrET
Profit before taxation has been arrived  BR&: AT R &8, (T A)
at after charging/(crediting): THFIEEFE ¢
Directors’ remuneration (note 7) E=Me (MIFE7) 5,226 5,790
Other staff costs HAh 8 TR
— Salaries and other benefits ~¥re REAEF 105,067 89,957
— Retirement benefits scheme —RIRAEFIET SR
contributions 7,027 7,121
Total staff costs 488 TR 117,320 102,868
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETE & 1,351 1,555
Depreciation e
— Property, plant and equipment o EB Y 6,642 7,600
— Right-of-use assets included within - {EFIHEE & (5t A L HbE
land use rights and buildings REF) 394 —
Provision of allowance for credit losses S E E 187 # 2,123 2,140
Provision of allowance for inventories 17 & (FT ASHE RIZHARS
(included in cost of sales and B AR)
services rendered) 1,138 2,742
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments F&{7H & # = 228
Cost of inventories recognised as RERZHTFERA
expenses 238,014 291,011
Interest income on bank deposits RITIF R EUA (T AR M ES)
(included in other income) (385) (281)
Rental income (included in other WA (FrAE M)
income) (2,092) (1,493)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEaERN SR 4 =
Minimum lease payments in respect of FTFAA Y3 2 HEA S CBERE
rented premises previously classified BB EFHERFE17HRD B AL S
as operating leases under HKAS 17 HE) — 3,140
Rental expenses for short-term leases % EIFHEHR S 5,096 —
Write off of deposits paid (included in i 2 g e (GE A E MUk 5 A8
other gains and losses) K) = 605
Net foreign exchange losses/(gains)  SMERBZ /(Ueas) F58 (Gt AH ML
(included in other gains and losses) I ANIER) 77 (649)
Impairment loss on club debenture 2AESREEERGIAE MY A
(included in other gains and losses) PN 788 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant and &Y - BE &R EK (ST AE
equipment (included in other gains U ER AR R)
and losses) (338) —
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10. DIVIDENDS 10. K2
2019 2018
—E—hE —T-N\#F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Dividends recognised as distribution iﬁﬂﬁ?’éw{]ﬁ'ﬁ Ik Z AR,
during the year: /\Eﬂiﬁﬁﬂx = tHXO 3
2018 Final — HKO0.3 cents ,%MJ(_? NE:ZB—+F
(2018: 2017 final dividend of %ﬁﬂﬂi@%.&siﬁ%)
HK1.5 cents) per share 1,920 9,600

No dividend has been proposed by the Directors in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
final dividend of HKO0.3 cents per ordinary share in an
aggregate amount of HK$1,920,000).

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 11.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is
based on the following data:

EEVERESREE_ZT—NLF+=A
=+—BLEFERFTMEK @<_5§ AN
F I RBARBZREBROC.IBI - BEA
1,920,000/ 7T

BREF

AR TR ARG 2 SRERRBWET
TR TR -

2019 2018
—E-NF —TN\E
HK$°000 HK$ 000
T TFrET
Profit for the year attributable to RARIEEB ANEG 2 ERET
owners of the Company 12,255 24,456
000 ‘000
TR TH
Number of ordinary shares for the RRFtESRERREHAN 2
purpose of basic and diluted piled=
earnings per share 640,000 640,000

No diluted earnings per share has been presented
because the Company did not have any outstanding
potential dilutive ordinary share during both years.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BERRE
Furniture
and Office  Computer Motor
Buildings  fixtures equipment equipment Machinery  vehicles Total
BF BAREE BOERE EERB He AE @it
HKS000  HKS$'000  HKS000  HKS$'000  HKS000  HKS$'000  HKS000
FET TET TET FET TET FAT FET
COST R
At 1 January 2018 R=Z-\E-A—H 57,246 30,599 4,364 2,966 91,434 4339 190,948
Exchange realignment [ 5L R (2,671) (452) (156) (227) (3,664) (154) (7,324)
Additions NE — 1,114 120 336 1,838 = 3,408
Disposals HE — (138) (304) — = — (442)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\&
+=R=+-8 54575 31,123 4,024 3,075 89,608 4185 186,590
Exchange realignment [E5 A% (1,015) (116) (65) (491)  (1556) (807)  (4050)
Additions RE = 1779 47 1362 792 - 3,980
Disposals HE — (1,030) @7) — (396) (1,263) (2,716)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+-R=1t-R 53,560 31,756 3,979 3,946 88,448 2115 183,804
DEPRECIATION ik
At 1 January 2018 R=E-N\F-A—H 15,302 29,268 4,081 1323 78,933 3576 132,483
Exchange realignment [ (773) (423) (144) (67) (3,275) (135) (4,817)
Provided for the year FNEE 1,169 681 126 606 4,547 471 7,600
Eliminated on disposals TER A - (138) (304) - - — (442)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE
+-R=1-8 15,698 29,388 3,759 1,862 80,205 3912 134,824
Exchange realignment fE % (328) (156) (68) (68) (1,326) (741) (2,687)
Provided for the year FREE 1,136 653 122 592 3,937 202 6,642
Eliminated on disposals R 3 — (1,004) (24) = (396) (1,263) (2,687)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+=R=+-8 16,506 28,881 3,789 2,386 82,420 2110 136,092
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+=A=+-H 37,054 2,875 190 1,560 6,028 5 47,712
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+=f=+-8 38,877 1735 265 1213 9,403 273 51,766
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12.

13.

120

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 12.
The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following

rates per annum:

Buildings 2% or over the remaining term
of the relevant lease, if shorter

Furniture and fixtures 20%—-33%
Office equipment 20%—25%

Computer equipment 20%-33%

Machinery 14%-20%
Motor vehicles 17%—-20%
LEASES 13.

This note provides information for leases where the
Group is a lessee.

(a) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(i) Amount recognised in the consolidated

M BERRE®)

LAEWE - BRERREER ARG RR

AT ERAZIE -

BF 2% AL BRI T FH
(A2 E %)

REEEE  20%-33%

PWAERE  20%-25%

EESE 20%-83%

HEs 14%—20%
RE 17%-20%
HE

A FREARASEFERSARANEE

() ERAEEERBEARE
() RESHBEMKEAER

statement of financial position Ea ]
The consolidated statement of financial FREMBIRRARINTTIE
position shows the following amounts BHESHE:
relating to leases:
Reconciliation of Land use
right-of-use assets Buildings rights Total
FAEEEYHR BF IERARE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 R-Z—h&F—AF—H — 7,718 7,718
Addition nNE 847 — 847
Depreciation for the year FAE (85) (359) (394)
Exchange realignment BEE 3, 38 B = (157) (157)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-—NF+H
=+—H 812 7,202 8,014
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13. LEASES (Continued) 13. #HEw®W)
(a) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (a) HEHAEEEREESE®)

(Continued)

(i)  Amount recognised in the consolidated () RESHBERILEANER
statement of financial position (Continued) TE(E)
Reconciliation of Land use
lease liabilities Buildings rights Total
HESBEHER BF LT ERE #st

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET

At 1 January 2019 RZE-—hNF—H—H — — —
Addition NE 847 — 847
Interest FE 4 - 4
Lease payments MERRK (33) — (33)
Interest paid BEAFE (4) = (4)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NEFE+H

Sq—E 814 — 814
Lease liabilities HK$’000
HEERE FET
Current mED 413
Non-current IERE 401
Total 4 814
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13. LEASES (Continued) 13.

122

(a) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
(Continued)

(i)  Amount recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive

HE®)

(a HEAREEREESE®

(i) REPENZEZAER LR

FEEEKRERIIR NIIE

income shows the following amounts relating FHESEE
to leases:

Year ended
Depreciation charge 31 December
of right-of-use assets 2019
BE-B-NF
+=A=+—~H
EREEENEER LEE
HK$°000
FHET
Buildings gF 35
Land use rights T R 516
Total #Et 551
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBEMNERAX 4

(iii)  Future lease payments are due as

(iii) FFXELERAUMT -

follows:
Minimum
lease Present
payments Interest value
31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2019 2019
R=ZB-NE RKR=ZT-hLFE RZZ-IF
+=ZA=+—-8B +=A=+—-H +=A=t+—H
BiR#HES FIE RE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FETT
Not later than one year —F AR 447 34 413
Later than one year and ~ #BiE—4 - {8
not later than two years BB 410 9 401
Total HEt 857 43 814
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13. LEASES (Continued) 13. #HEw®W)
(a) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (a) EAEEEREESE®)
(Continued)
(iv)  Prepaid lease payments (iv) #EHEz

BE-T-N\F+-7
=t REFEREMERN

The prepaid lease payments for the
year ended 31 December 2018 were as

follows: T
HK$'000

FEIT

Current T 7,498
Non-current JETRED 220
Total et 7,718

v)

(vi)

The Group’s prepaid lease payments
comprise leasehold interest in land
situated in the PRC on medium term
leases.

The Group’s leasing activities

The Group leases various offices and
factories. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of two years, but
may have extension options as described
in (vi) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are
included in a number of property and
equipment leases across the Group.
There are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets
used in the Group’s operations. The
extension and termination options held
are exercisable only by the Group and not
by the respective lessor.

AEENANES BB T BERES B
MAFHE LN EERES -

(v) FEEHEEZE

AEERELEPRERT
B o HES KB E BT HR
RME - BB T XX (vi) it
EREERE -

SRR % (E Bl E 1T
B BEE T TRGR&E
-BREBEAREHEEE
MERMEIN  BEBHRL
TREERARE HEEE
W ELETR B BB IERER °

(Vi) FERRAIEERE

AEBREZYMELREHRE
FHBEEERREILER
- BRIAKEERLE
FAREEMS ZALEER
A TR AR R IR
BREEAAKEMIESLE
ATTE
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14.

124

—NEFT-A=+—BIFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REME
HK$'000
TFrET
FAIR VALUE AYE
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—H—H 13,960
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss  FEZEHER 2 A FEE N 1,020
At 31 December 2018 RZB-—N\FE+-A=+—H 14,980
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss  RiE2HER 2 A FER D (230)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-NF+A=+—H 14,750

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are measured using the fair value model
and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 December 2019 have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on that date by Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited, an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the
Group.

The fair value was determined using direct comparison
approach assuming sales of the properties in their
respective existing status and by making reference to
comparable sales evidences as available on the market.
There has been no change from the valuation technique
used in the prior year.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

The properties were valued using the direct comparison
method using the sales comparison approach based on
recent sales of comparable properties in the area. The
key input under this approach are the price per square
feet on saleable floor area basis from current year sales
of comparable lots of properties in the area (location
and size) and which maximise the use of observable
market data and reply as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. Therefore, the Group transferred the
valuation of investment properties from level 3 into level
2.

14.

BEWME®)

RIETHME Y ATES - WE BSRE
MR AE AR -

FAEZ L BOAL RIFZ MR A LB R B
MHHERERFEELBORHMEETRE
B ZNZENEBZHARSENZMERE
BEZYENEFHER(LERKNNMNE
HEREMEETENEF T ERERS
I 5 B PR R 3 R P AT B R B T 5 BUR I
BARER BT EBERAMGE o Bt - K
SEBREME 2 EERF =ABEF

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 32019 125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mRE I IRARMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 B2 —F—WFE+_-_A=+—HIFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. BEWHE®)

Details of the Group’s investment properties and REBEREMEFBERBEAR=ZSZ—AN
information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 FRZZF-NFTZHA=T—HZRA¥HE

December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: ERERNT -
Fair value as
Level 2 Level 3  at 31/12/2019
R=ZB—I#F
+=A=+—8
-t B=R AN |
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FET

Commercial property units TR BEBZEAMEEN

located in Hong Kong 14,750 — 14,750

Fair value as
Level 3 at 31/12/2018

R=ZB-—N\F
+t=A=+—H
=K AN |
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Commercial property units URBEBZ ERYEEN
located in Hong Kong 14,980 14,980
15. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 15. RNEELENER
Details of the Group’s interests in joint ventures are as REEREECENERFBOT
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-)N\F
HK$’°000 HK$000
FET FET
Cost of investment in joint ventures REBBERNIRERAE 5 S
Share of post-acquisition profit FEAR U BB 1% 5 F) 3,758 2,623
3,763 2,628
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

On 11 January 2017, PT Design International Limited
(“PT Design International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and an independent third party
entered into an agreement for the establishment of PT
& PL China Limited (“PT & PL China”), a Hong Kong
incorporated company with issued share capital of
HK$10,000. PT Design International subscribed for 5,100
ordinary shares in PT & PL China, representing 51% of
the entire issued share capital. Upon the completion
of the capital contribution, the Group holds 51% equity
interest in PT & PL China. The Group has the right to
appoint one out of two voting directors in the board of
directors of PT & PL China in which the decisions about
the relevant activities of PT & PL China require the
unanimous consent of the director from both PT Design
International and the other shareholder. In this regard,
the investment in PT & PL China is accounted for as joint
venture of the Group.At the same time, PT & PL China
formed a wholly owned subsidiary in the PRC, PT & PL
Architectural Design Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd (“PT
& PL Architectural Design”). Hence, the Group indirectly
owned 51% equity interest in this company.

Particulars of the joint ventures of the Group at 31
December 2019 and 2018 are set out as follow:

15.

REELENER @)

RZZE—+tF—F+—8 AQRZ2EMH
BRRAMERBEEAR AR ([1HERE
B ) BB 5 = A K IAE MM (R
BDERAB([HERMA(PE) ] —FER
EREFMKLz AR EBEBITRAS
10,0008 7T ) 5T 3 Wik © B RET IR R
BEERAMR(PE )5, 100 @R - 55
B TIRAKS1% BT E%E - NE
EiFEREMM(PE)51% kE - AEH
ERZENERMN(FBESSRWEHE
BRAENEEZ — - HPhBFBEAERMN
(BB EBRRKR BB RERTEH
BREMKRENEEH—HEE - 5t
RIERHR(PR)MIREUNLREBREE D
EAR - RE - AERMK(PR)EHEK
VT ERENBARMERN(LE)EER
AR AR([MAERMN(EE)EER
D)o Bty AEEMEEAZAAS51%
HfEes o

RZE-—NFR_ZTE-—\F+_A=+—
B AEESECEMFBOT

Principal
Place of place of Proportion of ownership  Proportion of voting rights
Name of entity incorporation business interest held by the Group held by the Group Principal activity
s 3 )i s 3 g
BRER SMMILE FEEERY BEEREGLA FRELH TEXRH
2019 2018 2019 2018
L A A A
PT & PL China Hong Kong Hong Kong 51% 51% 50% 50%  Provision of comprehensive
architectural services
HERM(HE) 3 A 51% 51% 50% 50% REEERERSE
PT & PL Architectural ~ PRC PRC 51% 51% 50% 50%  Provision of comprehensive
Design* architectural services
mEmk( L8 RERT T i 51% 51% 50% 50% Rt ERERY

The English name of the company established in China represents
management’s best effort at translating the Chinese name as no
official English name has been registered.

AR MR E F R ATE - ZETBERIZAA RS
XEBREEEARAIENT B R XAEREmK
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15. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 15. REELENER @
Summarised financial information in respect of the AEBEECE 2 UBERBMZEY
Group’s joint ventures is set out below. The summarised T T EERGRNE ECERES
financial information below represents amounts shown BB RELENRE 2 FEa P BHRERAT
in the joint venture’s consolidated financial statements BF

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT

As at 31 December: W+=ZHA=+—8:
Current assets MEEE 24,216 14,804
Non-current assets EMBNEE 459 664
Current liabilities mENEE (17,295) (10,315)
Net assets BEFR 7,380 5,158
Included in the above amounts are: LA EEET

Cash and cash equivalents BehERREHEEB 3,540 1,399

Current financial liabilities (excluding  mESRAB(IEEES MEM

trade and other payable) FERTFIR) = 3,060

Year ended 31 December: BE+-—A=1+—HLEE:
Revenue WA 43,973 37,302
Profit for the year FRNmA 2,227 4,390
Other comprehensive income HEmeEEEs — =
Total comprehensive income AW 2,227 4,390
Included in the above amounts are: LA ERET

Depreciation and amortisation e R 272 250

Interest income FEUA (89) (98)

Income tax expense FriS iR = 198 106
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in a
joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

15.

REELENER @)

R AR R ERER A MR NE
RN —HEELENES CRmE Y
BRONT -

2019 2018

—®-nE —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Net assets of PT & PL China ERR(PE)EEFE 7,380 5,158
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REERBERMR(RE)Z

interest in PT & PL China AR L 51% 51%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest A& @R HERM(PE) 2

in PT & PL China Wz 2 BREE 3,763 2,628

CLUB DEBENTURE

The club debenture with indefinite period represents
entrance fee paid to a golf club. During the current year,
impairment loss of HK$788,000 has been recognised
by reference to the current market price and included
in other gains and losses. Due to increasing supply
in secondary market, the club debenture has been
reduced to its recoverable amount, which is the fair
value less costs of disposal, of HK$372,000.The
valuation is considered to be level 2 in the fair value
hierarchy, since no significant adjustments need to be
adjusted from the prices obtained from the market.

On 3 December 2019, the Group disposed of its club
debenture to a company wholly owned by Wong Chun,
a non-executive director of the Company, at carrying
amount of HK$372,000.

16.

BRES

ERPNGMESFERN—HaBRRSA
X2 ANGE c RAFE - £#788,000
BT ZREEBEE2EE M ERRIL T
AH AU FIE L « AR Z AT i5HERE
e EESEIEATFER L SR AR
ZHATYE S FE372,0008 T o A EE
WTISESHERETEAARE  HER
BEANFEBHTRE_H -

RZZE-NF+-A=R - rEEHKES
FTEHIZBRE E372,000/8 T & T A AR
FRTEETERL2EHEANRT -
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17. DEPOSITS PAID 17. Bff&E
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET TFrET
Deposits paid for RSB EEMNES
— property, plant and equipment — W% - BB REE 949 1,445
18. INVENTORIES 18. =&
2019 2018
—g-hE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEITL
Raw materials and consumables R R EFE 14,646 16,858
Work in progress R m 7,128 8,377
Finished goods 2 m 13,571 18,695
35,345 43,930
During the current year, the Group has recognised REAFE  AEEEBERESMDFHET
provision of allowance on certain slow moving EE#EA1,138,0008 L (ZE—/\F :
inventories of HK$1,138,000 (2018: HK$2,742,000) 2,742,000 7T) » Wit AtHE MR AR
which was included in cost of sales and services HIRCAR o
rendered.
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. B REMERKEKRR
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Trade receivables B S EWERR
— sales of connectivity products —HEERER 56,725 69,920
— provision of comprehensive — R ERERE
architectural services 5,806 4,476
62,531 74,396
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (4,304) (2,181)
58,227 72,215
Refundable rental deposits paid BN REHESRS 306 200
Prepayments TE{IFRIE 3,129 2,360
Value added tax receivables FEWGRET 934 3,237
Others Hitb 2,195 2,513
64,791 80,525

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables

RBEMR  HEZAH2INLHGKEE

net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
the invoice dates at the end of the reporting period.

Provision of
comprehensive

EEEHE 2 8 P RUSRRZRER DT

Sales of connectivity

architectural services products

RIS MEERS HEERER
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-hE T )N\HF ZEB-hF T N\F
HK$°000 HK$ 000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
0-30 days 0z 30H 1,602 4,028 21,228 24,254
31-120 days 312120H 3,018 — 30,160 42,555
121-180 days 1212180H 261 — 1,590 1,378
Over 180 days HiB180H 345 — 23 —
5,226 4,028 53,001 68,187
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 19. EBZRHEMEWERRG

RBEHR - HIH B 2L NREES
BEBZEHRUSRRZ RO

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
the due dates at the end of the reporting period.

Provision of
comprehensive Sales of connectivity
architectural services products
RHU2EEERYE HEEBEMm
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-hE T )N\HF ZB-hEF T N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET FETT FET

Not past due 4 360 HA 4,620 4,028 50,833 68,187
Less than 31 days past due #BHIH31H — — 1,988 =
31-120 days past due BHEI31E120H 261 — 6 —
121-180 days past due BEI12121808 — — 174 —
Over 180 days past due B HAER R 180 H 345 — — —

5,226 4,028 53,001 68,187

REREFAHELA - AEEFEBEER
FOEEEER KMKEEFEERE -
AEETEMR S TP EZRERFTD

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
assesses the potential customers’ credit quality and
defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.

REEERERNE  AEEATESR
P2 EEHNT30E180H -

For the sales of connectivity products, the Group allows
an average credit period ranging from 30 to 180 days to
its trade customers.

RRHEEZEREME @ AKELER
HEPERTHRERE —NEEH - RTE
AEPHEER—RROBA - TIARE
BRFEFEREABRERRIBEE AN
FIRE - RERBRETEEMERE °

As for the provision of comprehensive architectural
services, the Group does not have a standardised and
universal credit period granted to its customers. The
credit period granted to individual customer is within
90 days in general, which the Group considered on a
case-by-case basis, depending on the credibility and
reputation of the customers and as stipulated in the
project contract.

132

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 are set out in note 31(b)(ii).
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CONTRACT ASSETS EREE
2019 2018
—g-h%E e
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FET
(Note)
(PF3E)

Provision of comprehensive

architectural services Rt 2 mEERE 1,250 5,630

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed and not billed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s
future performance in achieving specified milestones at
the reporting date on the comprehensive architectural
services. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.
The Group typically transfer contract assets to trade
receivables upon achieving the specified milestones in
the contracts.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note
31b(ii).

BREETERMASEIE TK MK
RTRKBAENERN - REJZEBER
BURP A EER HE B HER 2 EE R
B EERBARERET - R BERNK
REGREE  ANEEESREREZ R
Ko AEBRBERENANEEEER
B BENEEEREE SRR

AEERZEANEEDERRY  RA
RAEEBRHR -—REERAPNABEZE

B RS FF B E A HTRES (b)) °

Movements in contract assets EHEEEH
2019 2018
—E-hF —FN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Balance at beginning of year FEEH 5,630 973
Decrease in contract assets as e = FANE 5 EUWEIE(F1)
a result of transferring to trade AGRNEE ) BHNENEE
receivables during the year that Vo
was included in the contract
assets at the beginning of the year (5,080) (973)
Increase in contract assets as a BT I ARFAE TR ESE
result of consideration for work BHE B EEEM
completed and not billed 700 5,630
Balance at end of year FRERR 1,250 5,630
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21.

134

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances comprise short-term bank deposits
with the original maturity of three months or less of
HK$13,182,000 (2018: HK$25,307,000) at fixed interest
rates ranging from 2.3% to 2.6% (2018: 1.35% to 2.55%)
per annum and bank balances of HK$66,193,000 (2018:
HK$38,112,000) at variable interest rates with effective
interest rates ranging from 0.05% to 0.77% (2018:
0.001% to 0.385%) per annum and cash balances of

HK$496,000 (2018: HK$1,668,000).

Details of impairment assessment of short-term bank
deposits and bank balances for the year ended 31

December 2019 are set out in note 31b(ii).
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BTEHBERIBAEAE=ZM@AIUR
REBNF2.3%F2.6%(ZFEE—\F :
1.35% £2.55%) 2 B EFEF B 2 5 5
$R1T1F 313,182,000 L (= E— N\ 4F :
25,307,000/ 7)) RIEEBFHEN T
0.05% F0.77% (ZZE—/\F : 0.001%
Z£0.385%) ZIFEVF K B 2 RITH
66,193,000/ L (=ZF— \ 4 : 38,112,000
BT ) A N IR 4 45 84496,000/8 T (—ZF— )\
£ : 1,668,000 7T) °
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B2 ERITERMBITA S 2 AT
BRI FE31b(ii) ©
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TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 22.

ACCRUALS
The Group has been granted an average credit period
ranging from 30 to 150 days from its trade suppliers for

both years.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables

BEERAERN  HUEMRRARARE

A

AEERMEFEEE S HERE T 2 F

BEEHNF30E150H -

RBEMR - HBERAHP2INZEHEN

presented based on the invoice date at the end of the R ZBRE AT -
reporting period:
2019 2018
—g-h&E —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Trade payables B SRR
Within 30 days 30BA 14,400 6,085
31-90 days 31£90H 12,156 11,769
91-150 days 912 150H 10,553 12,617
Over 150 days #BiB150H 3,501 25,248
40,610 55,719
Staff salaries & welfare payables ERETIHE REF 27,805 32,070
Refundable rental deposits received B AREHEERS 358 35
Value added tax payable and other tax JEHZ{ER & E fth e~ Fi 18
payables 377 1,487
Accrued operating expenses FERT AR E R 11,440 11,868
Others Hi 1,346 1,968
41,326 47,428
81,936 103,147
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23.

24.

136

CONTRACT LIABILITES 23. BHEE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEIT FET
Sales of connectivity products HEERER 3,709 4,342

Provision of comprehensive IRHEEEERY

architectural services 1,544 8,428
Total #Et 5,253 12,770

The contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation
to transfer performance obligation to customers for
which the Group has received considerations from the
customers.

When the Group receives a deposit before the sales of
connectivity products or comprehensive architectural
services commence, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount
of the deposit received.

ENAEEAKREREREFPRERER

BRREOEENER

EAKERNHERRE MR EHRERSE

B A BT AR &

AN MR ES

BMAE  BEENEBEOBERN KA

BEWIZE DR

Movements in contract liabilities EHEEES
2019 2018
—E-hEF —F-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Balance at beginning of year FANEEER 12,770 11,918
Decrease in contract liabilities as AERFRBAGTFAFIELE
a result of recognising revenue B)EENEHNE B
during the year that was included
in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (12,770) (11,918)
Increase in contract liabilities asa ~ FUWEUIRSEH S K& &0
result of receiving deposits 5,253 12,770
Balance at end of year FREH 5,253 12,770
AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS 24, ENESRE
The amounts were unsecured, interest-free and fully ZERBAERBERES  AER=Z

repaid during 2019.
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SHARE CAPITAL 25. BEAR
Number Share
of shares capital
[ Evig 2 E| [
‘000 HK$'000
T FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FAXE{EO.01B T 2 T Bk
ETE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 R=-Z—N\F—H—H »
and 31 December 2019 —E-NE+-A=t+—HK
—2-NF+=ZA=+—H 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRERE :
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 H-Z—\F—H—H -
and 31 December 2019 —E-N\E+-A=+—HEK
—T-NF+ZA=t+—8 640,000 6,400
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26. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was

HK$2,092,000 (2018: HK$1,493,000).

At the end of the reporting period,
contracted with tenants for future
payments as follows:

26. KEHAD

REBBHAA

FRATHRILZ MRS WA A2,092,000%

TT(ZZF—/)\4F : 1,493,000/ 7TT) °

the Group had
minimum lease

EELWT :

RBEMR - AREEBLIINZAREK

2019 2018
—g-nE T )\F
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 2,072 1,252
In the second to third year inclusive FFEFE-F(BEEEMRT) 2,142 =
4,214 1,252
27. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 27. EXERE
2019 2018
—E-hE —E—N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Capital expenditure in respect of the D ETAMBRALRA BIFSER&R R #
acquisition of property, plant and Bz WEDE  BEEEREZ
equipment contracted for but not BEARAR
provided in the consolidated financial
statements 382 808

138
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme
adopted on 13 December 2001 (the “Scheme”) for
the purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees, the Company may grant options to
executive directors and full-time employees of the Group
to subscribe for shares of the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive directors
or their associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million
must be approved in advance by the Company’s
shareholders.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of options. Options may be
exercised at any time from the thirteenth month from
the date of grant to the fifth anniversary of the date of
grant. The exercise price is determined by the directors
of the Company, and will be at least the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant, (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant, and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

No share options were granted under the Scheme since
its adoption.

28.

fBREStE

REARAR_FT—F+_A+=AK
WABBIEER A EREER ZBEERE
(T5181)) AR A AAKERTEER
2REBR TRBA DR 2 EAHE -

RERQNFIREELIE - BIEFTEI AT A
B 2 BIRRERT S M 2 IR 5 B BT S i
KRBIPEMFE 2 B 317D 230%
REARDNBREELIME - EER—F
A AR A LR T 2 BRRERTS & 2 %
HEE T EBAARR R EREE 3T
BAD 2 1% o iR F £ BARR B IETT
EERHEHBBA T ZEREBOADARK
K20.1% » sK{EEE#5,000,0007 7T © Al
ZEVZOVNEI ] BBt

RENBEREZERTE  BERM1EBTZ
HERE - BREVTEEAREAHES
+=@EAERE AHEABT 2 HIEHMHE
EAEBTE - (TEEEAEARARESRE
T BTMERUAT=ZFHRZ2E&SE () A
AR ZE BB ZWKHE (i) &K
EEERE AT AMEEER 2 FHKH
&+ (i) gD 2 E1{AE °

BRTEERAAR - NA R I ERIRGT S
B EIRERAE
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29.

30.

140

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and a defined contribution retirement benefit
scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong and
the Taiwan, respectively. The assets of the schemes are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under
the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% and
6% of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme and the defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme respectively, which contribution
is matched by employees. For contribution to the
Mandatory Provident Fund, the maximum amount is
HK$1,500 per month.

Eligible staff of subsidiaries operating in the PRC
currently participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The
PRC subsidiaries is required to contribute an amount
of 10% on the covered payroll of its employees to the
central pension scheme for the funding of the retirement
benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of the eligible
employees of the PRC subsidiaries.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities
within the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as
issue of new debts.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. £2mIEA
Categories of financial instruments (a) =S=WMIESE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —EF-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT

Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost  IZE A AT B 2 & RVEE 140,599 140,015

Financial liabilities Ea =i
Amortised cost BESERCAR 70,532 91,265

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables and amounts due
to directors. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
included market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out
below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 3%} 2019
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i) Market risk
Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases,
which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group currently does
not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arises.

EMIAM®H

(b) =SBEAMRSEEERBE®G

(i) )
BRI

ARBZBRMBARER
AN SHE R IHE MRS -
1 1 6 A &= B & X 51
i o AERBIRAEIL J|R] LI
BEIPRER - R - AEE
EEE-EEREXRRY
HRHEEREBEHREZI
R

2019 2018
—E-hEF —F-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets BE
USD (note 1) Er(FEET) 9,430 2,184
New Taiwan dollar (“NTD") e (FHarl) 1,566 1,866
Renminbi (“RMB”) ARE(TARE]) 365 1,919
Liabilities =L
NTD oK 2,046 1,392
RMB AR 33 4,323

Note 1: Functional currency of the respective
subsidiaries is RMB/HK$. Since HK$
is pegged to US$ and immaterial
monetary items denominated in USD
against the functional currency of RMB,
no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(@)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2018: 5%) increase
and decrease in USD against RMB and
NTD. 5% (2018: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
used by management for the assessment
of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% (2018: 5%) change in the
foreign currency rates. A positive number
(negative number) indicates an increase
in profit (a decrease in profit) where RMB
and NTD strengthens against the USD.

31.

—2-hF
HK$000

EWMIAMH

(b) =SBEAKRBSEEERBE®G

1] TR R (E)
Em 5 (8

TRFVAEELHETTLE A
RERHaEAEMERAE
5% (ZZ—\F : 5% )&
RE - BEEFMA I8
Y I R % B 5 BT F B RS
Lk R AB5% (ZF— )\ F
5%)  URES TR BIER

HRHNEEHEERIEE -
WERFRIZEERFE% (=
T—)\F : 5%)EHEHHE
FUATE - FE(AH) R
EFARERIAEERETSE
FHERE R T F) 38 0 Ca F)
) e

Impact of RMB Impact of NTD
ARBZHE Hawzye
2019 2018 2019 2018
B\ ZE-hE —T)\fF
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000

TET TET TFET TAT

Impact on profit for the year ~ ¥/FREF| 2 2

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unpresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.

17 (120) (25) 24

BEERS  HRNFRER
W ARRFERNRR - SR
B DMK E B SNER

LA
a

o o
AR
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31.

144

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(@)

GLORY MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED 28 (1) GR A 7

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank
deposits (see note 21 for details) and cash
flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate on
bank balances (see note 21 for details).
In relation to the fixed-rate bank deposits,
the directors of the Company consider the
Group’s exposure to fair value interest rate
risks is not significant as these deposits
are all short-term in nature.

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rates on its variable- rate bank
balances at the end of the reporting
period. A 4 (2018: 4) basis point increase
or decrease is used by the management
for the assessment of the possible change
in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 4 (2018: 4)
basis point higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2019 would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$5,300 (2018: post-
tax profit would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$11,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unpresentative of the inherent
interest rate risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

31.

EMIAM®H

(b)

tREREEEERBEG)

(@)

5 EEE (5)
T 2

AREEEE B RITFRM A
XAFEMNERR(FER
fisE21) » HRTERRIE
WATHIH A R EY M A Z IR
TR EN XA R (F15 R H
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. S®IAwW

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREREEBERBE®

policies (Continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) EEREEREETE
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the RIB-NFR-F—N\F
Group’s maximum exposure to credit +ZA=+—H ' x%£EBHA
risk which will cause a financial loss to HFEHREBRITEEMES
the Group due to failure to discharge an TﬁﬁiﬁﬁkEHT%ZE—ﬁhgﬂ
obligation by the counterparties is arising % - IRNRE M TS AR R R

from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group’s principal financial assets are
trade and other receivables and bank
balances and cash.

The Group's credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade receivables
and contract assets. The Group is
exposed to concentration of credit risk
as a substantial portion of its sales is
generated from a limited number of

oIS REEREMEEL
ARE(E -

AEEZTESHEERE
7 R EAG YRR  SRITH

AEEZEERBEERE
EESRKERREHNE
EoBREBRIHHEET
REERBEZES @ A
SEEAZEERRSEFRZ
Bk e R=ZZFT—NhF+=A

customers. At 31 December 2019, the top =q—I[E " $%l£7§§\)5
five customers of the Group accounted HAEEE S EKERER L

for about 71.2% (2018: 63.6%) of the HEBEXD 71.2% (ZF— /\
Group’s trade receivables and contract F :63.6%) WEHNEE
assets, all of which are engaged in BEGERE BRI -5

business of connectivity products with
good reputation. In order to minimise the
credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue

BEERBRBRERE - A&
EBEEEEREEGAEE
EEERE  FEEHRLE
fib B2 2272 Fr A BE AR BRERUR

1TE W EIEERETS P -
AEERBEEERIESEE
Bzr i mE5E - AR
AT U Bl 5 BB AF R SR (E

debts. In addition, the Group reviews the BBt E - AR ﬂ%
recoverable amount of each debt on a EREAEE 2 EERR

collective and on-going basis to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE - T

—NEFT-A=+—BIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (Continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The credit risk on bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following

categories:

Internal

EMIAM®H

tREREEEERBEG)

(i) EEEERBEEE

BN T REREEFR
KB EREBREENR
Zﬁ” BWBRRITRERZ
EERBAR -

AEBHAIEERBRFTR
FHEBIETY O

Trade receivables/

credit rating Description contract assets Other financial assets
EZBBER
A EE TR i BREE HitemERE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL —not ~ 12-month ECL
credit-impaired
iVEN HFRNENRRBRRIE ECERENTES 12MABSEESE
EHEEER
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL —not ~ 12-month ECL
usually settle the amounts credit-impaired
BELE BERASFRREN  EREEENRY ECERENTES 12MABSEEESE
EHEEER
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL —not  Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
KR AHELSRBIMPRENENBTEERR ECERENFES BEENENFED
B A HERRE BRI EHEEER RHEEER
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
BR BRBERAECHREERE EELGERENT BELGERENT
BHEHEESRE BHRHCEER
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is  Amount is written off  Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
i3 BEBENMEBABAREMBRERARE SECHE SHED M

PEBIRA BN E TR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial assets
and contract assets, which are subject to
ECL assessment:

31.

SMIA®m
(b) =SBEAKRBSEEERBE®G

(i) EEREERBEEE

TR AKEAEETTEY
FEEERFRNEREER
BREENEERRFS

Internal
2019 Notes credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
“E-NF WE ABEETE 12ERRFENELNEEEE BEREE
HK$000  HK$000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost
REHRATENERER
Bank balances and cash 21 Low risk 12-month ECL 79,871
RITERRRE Vel REAEHEEES
Other receivables 19  Low risk 12-month ECL 2,501
Hith YR [EYEl REAEHEESR
Trade receivables — sales of 19 Low risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-
connectivity products impaired
BORWERN — HEESER EmE EEERENTEREREE
18
53,002
19 Loss risk Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired
iVEN BEASERENFERED
EEER
3,723
Trade receivables — provision of 19 Watch list Lifetime ECL — not credit-
comprehensive architectural impaired
services
B OGN — RIEZERERS BRLE BEERENTEREREE
B
5,806 62,531
Other items
HiwE R
Contract assets 20 Low risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired
BHAE iNEN EEERENERNEREE
E518 1,250
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31.

148

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

31. E&WMIAW®E

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies (Continued)

tREREEEERBEG)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) EEEERBEEE
(Continued)
Internal
2018 Notes credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
—E-0\F ME ABEETR 12EARFENELNEEER BIREE
HK$000  HK$000
FET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBERATENEREE
Bank balances and cash 21 Low risk 12-month ECL 65,087
FITERRRE Vel REAEHEEER
Other receivables 19 Low risk 12-month ECL 2,713
Hth R ERR REABHEESE
Trade receivables — sales of 19 Low risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-
connectivity products impaired
BHRYER — HERBER e EEERENTREREREE
518
66,884
19 Loss risk Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired
EERR BEA S ERE N AT
EEER
3,036
Trade receivables — provision of 19 Watch list Lifetime ECL — not credit-
comprehensive architectural impaired
services
BORMERN — R ERERY BRELE REEAENFERRSAGE
BR
4,476 74,396
Other items
HitE R
Contract assets 20 Low risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-
impaired
AHBE EmE BEERENTEREDEE
&8 5,630
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The credit risk on trade receivables
under sales of connectivity products is
limited because the counterparties are
with low loss rates which is estimated
based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without
undue cost or effort. During the year,
provision of allowance of credit losses
of HK$1,990,000 is recognised for the
debtors with credit-impaired with gross
carrying amount of HK$3,723,000 as at 31
December 2019.

Internal credit rating for trade receivables
under provision of comprehensive
architectural service is classified as
watch list in which the management of the
Group has determined the average loss
rate as 10% in general. During the year,
provision of allowance of credit losses
of HK$133,000 is recognised for these
debtors with lifetime ECL and not credit-
impaired with gross carrying amount of
HK$581,000 as at 31 December 2019.

31. E&WMIAW®)

(b) =SBEAKRBSEEERBE®G

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 3%} 2019

= E/m R R B E G ()

HEERERNE ZEREE
REERBRAER  REAH
FANEBERERE  BREE
BERTIRE R EUWERKTE
AR FHNE S B R
BHOERMGE > WREBAT
WERARESE )R] &GS
RATRE M ERHELFAE -
RAEE B -_T—hE
+—A=+—BEEEES
3,723,000 T E R EE
BB FEBER R IREER
BB 451,990,000/ 7T °

RIEE2AEERBENE S E
WERASEEFRDER
BRAE 2R ASEHER
BEETIrHUERE—RKAE
10% - RAFE - ERM=-F
—NF+=-—A=+—H#&
H{E 5581,0008 TIHF &
HEEEEETENERS
B E R R SRR S
B E18#45133,000/8 7T ©
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. S®MIAwW

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) =EREAKREEEZERBE®
policies (Continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (i) EEmEEREETEE
(Continued)
The following table shows the movement TR ERBEE(CTERR
in allowance for credit losses that has E 5 RWIR RN = EE
been recognised for trade receivables BREEE) -

under the simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
not credit- credit-
impaired impaired Total
EEERENE CELGERE
BHES N ER AN

EFE EEFE @5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2018 RZE-N\§—H—H 41 — 41
Allowance recognised in profit
or loss RNERERNEE 407 1,733 2,140
As at 31 December 2018 and  MZZE—\F+Zf=1—
1 January 2019 Ak=Z—-N&—RA—H 448 1,733 2,181
Allowance recognised in profit R iB2SHERR B
or loss 133 1,990 2,123
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+=A=1+-AH 581 3723 4,304
The Group writes off a trade receivable EBENBTES AR AR
when there is information indicating that SR A W EERA A
the debtor is in severe financial difficulty WERIER (FlIEKEAR
and there is no realistic prospect of BRI AERT - S
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been B 5 FE M R 58 BA R 3R M
placed under liquidation or has entered B WERBEEE BE) - K
into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the S EgHEE 5 EKERRK -
trade receivables are over two years past NEE T HEBR ARKIUEE
due, whichever occurs earlier. The Group 1TE) AU B 21 HR RIS o

may take legal action against the debtors
to recover the amount due.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. £WMIEm®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) =EREMREEEZERBE®

policies (Continued)

(i) Liquidity risk (i)  HEELEE

The Group’s liquidity position is monitored ARRIEREFBERFIRIT
closely by the management of the HEHRRBEERTREKTF - &
Company by maintaining an adequate VERAEE 2 REE M
level of bank balances and cash. The S TREFIIREEIENTE
following table details the Group’s PRIBEZHBRELH - Z
remaining contractual maturity for its KB BAEEATINZ
non-derivative financial liabilities. The =R HEReMEEZ AR
table has been drawn up based on the WP MEFH ©

undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay.

On demand Total
or less than 31-90 91-365  Over365 undiscounted  Carrying
30 days days days days  cash flows amount

RERNS, ABRRE

HR0A  31E90R 91E365A  BB6SH  ABAR 0 REE
HKS000  HKSOOO — HKSOOD  HKSOOO — HKS0O0  HK$OOD
AT TET FAT TAT TAT TAT

Asat31December2019  R=B-h#&

=1
Non-interest bearing THE
Trade and other payables &% R E B IR 43909 12,156 14,054 = 70,119 70,119
Lease liabilities HEEE 37 112 298 40 857 814
43,946 12,268 14,352 40 70976 70,933
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+-A=t-H
Non-interest bearing N8
Trade and other payables ~ Z5 R EMEMNR
# 40,159 11,769 37,864 — 89,792 89,792
Amounts dug to directors ~ [EFEZ5A 1473 - - - 1473 1473
41,632 11,769 37,864 — 91,265 91,265
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 31. £WMIEM®
(c) Fair value (c) 2A¥E
The fair values of financial assets and financial cREEREMABRZATEIR
liabilities are determined in accordance with BERRBESREN T 2 ARE
generally accepted pricing models based on BIEAETE o
discounted cash flow analysis.
The directors of the Company consider that the NRARBEERE  REAPBHRE
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial NIZEEN AR eREERS
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the BhEE s REEEEATEREE -
consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. RBEARZB
During the current year, the Group entered into the RNEFEA - AEEDEBEHTET TR
following transactions with related parties: Z
Name Nature of transactions 2019 2018
18/ 14 R1E —E-hE —T)\F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Glory Mark Electronic Limited (“GMEL") (note 1) Rental paid by the Group 152 155
BEETARAR([BEETARAR )M AEEEMHES
Billion Mass Limited (“Billion Mass”) (note 1) Rental paid by the Group 1,115 1,200
BIEAR AR (B8 ) (M) AEEENES
San Chen Company (“San Chen”) (note 2) Rental paid by the Group 152 155
AR AR (L) (HiE2) AEBENES
Ms. Yu Lan (note 3) Rental paid by the Group 122 124
BB EE A+ (Pf3E3) AEBENESE
PT Architecture Design (Shenzhen) Company Revenue earned by the Group — 4,667
Limited (“PT Shenzhen”) (note 4)
HREELF ORI ERAR(HRRND) (HF4) AEBEHIUEA
PT Shenzhen (note 4) Cost of service rendered paid by the 4,415 2,419
Group
ERRYI(KEE4) AEEE MRERBKA
PT Shenzhen (note 4) Rental paid by the Group 2,476 1,437
BRI (FEE4) AEEEMHES
Well Mark Industrial (Hong Kong) Limited Club debenture was disposed by 372 —
(“Well Mark”) (note 5) the Group
BEIX(BB)ERAA([EE]) (HEE5) AEEHEEMES
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi and Mr. Wong Chun, directors and/
or shareholders of the Company, together hold 79%
controlling interest in GMEL and 100% controlling
interest in Billion Mass.

San Chen is 42.75% owned by Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi.

Ms. Yu Lan is the spouse of Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi.

Mr. Wang Li Feng, a director and/or a shareholder of
the Company has an indirect equity interest of 27.6%
in PT Shenzhen.

Well Mark is controlled by Mr. Wong Chun, the non-

executive director and deputy chairman of the
Company.

Details of the key management remuneration are set out
in note 7.

32.

BELRS(®)
M1 ARREER/ IRREDELERE

HiaE2:
HraE3:

Kiit4:

a5

EAEAHBEBESTFERARTI%
e AR R K R 6 A R AR RS o

FEEIER S A HE S 1L 342.75% 1S o
BRELZ T AEBEE LA 2B -
RABEE R SHAR TR IE £ E

BAEEERY27.6% %

BEARRFFATEEREEFERE
S

TEEEABZHIFISHNMET -
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33. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. MEBLATFE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 RZB-NFERZZE-NF+_A=+—
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: AZARRAREEMBARIFERT :
Place of
incorporation/ Paid up issued
Form of business ~ registration/ share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/
Name of subsidiary structure operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
HRRL/HR/ BRORERRE/ ERAfR BB
WEARER ERRRYA 3 EfER RAEE/ERERLH ITER
Directly Indirectly
E# 53
2019 2018 2019 2018
S0 ST\ CE-AME SIS
Asia-Link Technology Limited  limited liability British Virgin Islands/  US$50,000 Ordinary - — 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
company Taiwan shares mainly for computers and peripheral
products in the USA, investment
holding
SHERARLT AREAAA EEABRES/AE  S0000ETEER EXHEELERANEMRBEREE
mZERERRRER
Dongguan Glory Mark limited liability PRC HK$15,100,000 Paid - = 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity products
Electronic Co., Ltd. company up registered mainly for computers and peripheral
capital products
REBEEFERATA BREERA i 15,100,000 41 HETEAN N AR RBER R
HMER SER
Glory Mark Electronic Limited  fimited liability British Virgin Islands/  US$50,000 Ordinary - = 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
(Note a) company Taiwan shares mainly for computers and peripheral
products in South East Asia
BRETERAA(MEa) AREELA EEABREE/AE 50000 ETLAR ERREEETERNERREERE
Em/ESER
Glory Mark Electronic Limited  fimited liability Samoa/Taiwan UUS$50,000 Ordinary - = 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity products
company shares mainly for computers and peripheral
products
BEETARAR ARERAR BET/ A8 50,000% T E &R EELIEMNEMR AR BER
SER
Glory Mark International limited liability British Virgin Islands/  US$400 Ordinary 100% 100% - —  Investment holding
(Holdings) Limited company Hong Kong shares
BEER(SE)ERRR  BREEAA AREARES/BE  A0ETLER RERR
Dongguan Asia-Link limited liability PRC HK$35,360,200 Paid - — 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity products
Technology Ltd. company up registered mainly for computers and peripheral
capital products
REDBHHETARAR  BREEAA Gz 35,360 2008 T4 HErEARN SRR BE R
AMER BER
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33. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33. MEBARFE@®

Place of

incorporation/ Paid up issued

Form of business  registration/ share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued share capital/

Name of subsidiary structure operations registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities

ERAL/2R/ BRORERRE/ AR 2R
WEAREE £33 3750 EXHE Bali-e RAEE/ SRERLH TERH

Directly Indirectly
E# 3

2019 2018 2019 2018
-7 —E-\f ZE-nf —E-)\f

Asia-Link (Fogang) Electronic - limited liability PRC US$2,680,000 Paid - — 100% 100%  Manufacture of connectivity products
Limited company up registered mainly for computers and peripheral
capital products
THBE)ETERAN  AREAAAR e 2,680,000 412 HETERRE RN ARRBER L &
HiER SEm
PT Design International limited liability British Virgin Islands/  US$50,000 Ordinary 100% 100% - —  Investment holding
(Holdings) Limited company Hong Kong Shares
HEGERERERAR  BREEAA LERARES/A% 50000ETEER AR
Pt Design (QH) Limited limited liability PRC HK$2,000,000 Paid - = 100% 100%  Provision of comprehensive
company up registered architectural service
capital
AsRER (R ERAR ARARAT E 2,000,000 TER RE2ERERS
AR
PT Design International limited liability Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding and provision of
company Ordinary shares comprehensive architectural service
R aE BAREERA & 10000003 L REBRRIRE L TRER
i3
Note: Bt -
(a) The subsidiary had established a branch, namely Glory (a) %Z Bﬁ% GllE=Y P v 5 S /NI
Mark Electronic Limited — Taiwan Branch (the “GME EEFERAAAESREI([EEE
Branch”) in Taiwan. The GME Branch is engaged in “"TJ) BEETFHARKEERER
trading of connectivity products mainly for computers FEANERREEREEM I ERE
and peripheral products. fm °
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities PREESFRNE )R - BENE A A%
at the end of the year or at any time during the year. TEAEERES o
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34. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 34. AXQTFEEER
The financial information of the Company as at 31 ARARIR=ZZE—NFER=ZE—N\F+=A
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: = T—HHPHBERDT
2019 2018
—g-nE -2\
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEMENE E
Unlisted investment in subsidiaries RSB AR ELETIRE 34,432 34,432
CURRENT ASSETS MENVEE
Other receivables E b UL R TR 419 287
Bank balances and cash IRITHERNIRS 436 112
855 399
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Other payables HAbETARR 1,368 2,853
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR ENGI R ] 28,037 19,590
29,405 22,443
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES MEEEFE (28,550) (22,044)
NET ASSETS BESRE 5,882 12,388
CAPITAL AND RESERVE B I
Share capital (note 25) MRA (Ff97E25) 6,400 6,400
Reserve G (518) 5,988
TOTAL EQUITY =B 5,882 12,388
These financial statements were approved and authorised for REVBHRERER_ZE_TFAA_T+4A

issue by the Board of Directors on 25 May 2020 and are signed
on behalf by:

Wang Li Feng
B -3
DIRECTOR
EZ
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34. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 34. ZAARBMKEER#)

(Continued)
Movement in the Company'’s reserve are as follows: RARIRBENEBAT
Retained
Profit/
(Accumulated
loss) Total
RE =R
(RE5tEE) et
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At January 2018 RZE—-N\F—H 19,327 19,327
Loss and total comprehensive expense 4 AE1E & 2 B S 4258
for the year (3,739) (3,739)
Dividends (note 10) AR 2 (F3E10) (9,600) (9,600)
At 31 December 2018 R-ZZE—N\F+_A=+—H 5,988 5,988
Loss and total comprehensive expense 4 R E518 K 2 f 7 4258
for the year (4,586) (3,550)
Dividends (note 10) BB (M7E10) (1,920) (1,920)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-—NF+ZA=+—H (518) (518)
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35.

158

—NEFT-A=+—BIFE

NOTES SUPPORTING THE CONSOLIDATED 35. #IREHRSHKREBRMET

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing REEEEE S BHIR
activities
Amounts due Lease
to directors liabilities
ENESRE HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018
and 1 January 2019

Changes from financing cash flows:
Repayment of principal portion of

R=—E—N\E—H—A8"
—E-N\Ft+-_A=t—HXK
—E—hF—H—H 1,473 —

2O ER

rﬁﬁé@ﬁﬁiu %ﬁ@) :

lease liabilities = (33)
Repayment to directors BRTES (1,473) e
Interest paid for leases BERHEERE = (4)

(1,473) (37)
Other changes: Hb B3
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE = 4
New lease liabilities* HEaE" = 847
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-NF+-_A=+—H = 814

During the year, the Group had non-cash addition to right-of-use * RARFE  AEBEREFTNEE THATIE N B

assets and lease liabilities in the same amount of HK$847,000 in BHEAEEERTEEEENIFRERZBERS

respect of lease arrangement for buildings (2018: Nil). 847,000 (=T — \F : &) -
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

After the year ended 31 December 2019, the outbreak
of the COVID-19 has been declared a pandemic by the
World Health Organisation. The COVID-19 has affected
the operation of businesses globally and in varying
degrees, the extent of which will depend on factors,
including evolvement of the pandemic, macro policies,
resumption of work and activities in enterprises. The
Group has closely monitored the situation of COVID-19
and the Group’s exposure to the risks and uncertainties
in connection with the outbreak. We have also started
assessment of its impact on the Group’s operation and
financial performance, maintained close communication
with different stakeholders of the Group and put in place
various measures since mid-March 2020. The effect of
these measures are reflecting progressively. Based on
the information currently available, the Directors confirm
that there has been certain extent of adverse impact on
the financial or trading position of the Group in the first
quarter of 2020 as reflected in the Group’s 2020 first
quarterly report. However, the positive impact brought
by the various measures implemented are beginning
to take place in the second quarter. While the actual
impacts may differ from these estimates as the situation
continues to evolve, the directors remain cautiously
optimistic on the outlook of the results of the Group.

36.

HRERYPREE

RBE-_FT-NAF+_A=+t—HLHFE
% HHARSHAENKRESKRT
me MEMABRETRREE LRERRE
BELZ HEESBOARETHEER 8%
RRITREDRE - ZEBR - ©XTER
ERERIRTE - AR B ) B4R ¥ I & 7
B BASEHREREABORRES
EEMRR - RAMFRTEEEAKE
BENMMBRENTE  WRAEE TR
MEHEERFTEE  RE-F_-F
FZATAFRERREERSR - ZFHEE
ZHREZTZHEIR - ENERTAIHER -
EZHR  WAKE_ZT_TEE—FE
BEMRR - HAKE_F_FTFE—F
EMBREZHNNAE -—ERENEERY
&R MEBNSEEBRRE _FE
R R EETE - ANV BEERE
ERFEARARINZEHE  EFHAN
SEXREMSARTZELBEE -
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Financial Summary

MEME

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=1+—HLEE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ZE-RF ZERF ZE—+F T\ ZEB-hF
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000
FET FHET FET FET FET
RESULTS S
Revenue WA 296,497 324,670 377,118 388,770 347,973
Profit/(loss) for the year FWimA(E8) (17,463) 2,480 16,763 24,434 11,870
Profit/(loss) for the year AT AL REEER
attributable to: swm, (E18)
Owners of the Company RAREEA (17,688) 2,953 17,004 24,456 12,255
Non-controlling interests FEIE A 225 (473) (241) (22) (385)
(17,463) 2,480 16,763 24,434 11,870
At 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
ZE-RF ZE—RF ZE—+tF -\ ZB-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
Total assets BERLTE 264,053 227,736 264,714 274,869 256,445
Total liabilities B (s (110,676)  (138,490) (158,376) (154,389) (126,773)
Shareholders’ funds R E & 153,377 89,246 106,338 120,480 129,672
Shareholder’s funds AR ATEEREE
attributable to: &
Owners of the Company  AZRAFIHES A 152,201 88,543 105876 120,040 129,617
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR R 1,176 703 462 440 55
158,377 89,246 106,338 120,480 129,672
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